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                                     PART I 
 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
Statements in this annual report on Form 10-K, including, without limitation, 
statements under Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations" and elsewhere in this report, as well as 
statements in future filings by the Company with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission ("SEC"), in the Company's press releases and oral statements made by 
or with the approval of an authorized executive officer of the Company, which 
are not historical in nature, are intended to be, and are hereby identified as, 
"forward-looking statements" for purposes of the safe harbor provided by the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are based on 
current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the Company, 
its future performance, the industry in which the Company operates and 
management's assumptions. Words such as "expects", "anticipates", "targets", 
"goals", "projects", "intends", "plans", "believes", "seeks", "estimates", 
"may", "will", "should" and variations of such words and similar expressions are 
also intended to identify such forward-looking statements. The Company cautions 
readers that forward-looking statements include, without limitation, those 
relating to the Company's future business prospects, projected operating or 
financial results, revenues, working capital, liquidity, capital needs, plans 
for future operations, expectations regarding capital expenditures and operating 
expenses, effective tax rates, margins, interest costs, and income as well as 
assumptions relating to the foregoing. Forward-looking statements are subject to 
certain risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or 
quantified. Actual results and future events could differ materially from those 
indicated in the forward-looking statements, due to several important factors 
herein identified, among others, and other risks and factors identified from 
time to time in the Company's reports filed with the SEC including, without 
limitation, the following: general economic and business conditions which may 
impact disposable income of consumers in the United States and the other 
significant markets where the Company's products are sold, general uncertainty 
related to possible terrorist attacks and the impact on consumer spending, 
changes in consumer preferences and popularity of particular designs, new 
product development and introduction, competitive products and pricing, 
seasonality, availability of alternative sources of supply in the case of the 
loss of any significant supplier, the loss of significant customers, the 
Company's dependence on key employees and officers, the ability to successfully 
integrate the operations of acquired businesses without disruption to other 
business activities, the continuation of licensing arrangements with third 
parties, ability to secure and protect trademarks, patents and other 
intellectual property rights, ability to lease new stores on suitable terms in 
desired markets and to complete construction on a timely basis, continued 
availability to the Company of financing and credit on favorable terms, business 
disruptions, disease, general risks associated with doing business outside the 
United States including, without limitation, import duties, tariffs, quotas, 
political and economic stability, and success of hedging strategies with respect 
to currency exchange rate fluctuations. 
 
Item 1.   Business 
 
CORPORATE ORGANIZATION 
 
Movado Group, Inc. is a designer, manufacturer and distributor of quality 
watches with prominent brands sold in almost every major category comprising the 
watch industry. Unless the context indicates otherwise, all references to the 
"Company" or "MGI" include Movado Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The Company 
was incorporated in New York in 1967 under the name North American Watch 
Corporation to acquire Piaget Watch Corporation and Corum Watch Corporation, 
which had been, respectively, the exclusive importers and distributors of Piaget 
and Corum watches in the United States since the 1950's. The Company sold its 
Piaget and Corum distribution businesses in fiscal 2000 and changed the 
Company's name to Movado Group, Inc. in 1996. 
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In 1970, the Company acquired the Swiss manufacturer of Concord watches, which 
had been manufacturing Concord watches since 1908, and in 1983, the Company 
acquired the U.S. distributor of Movado watches and substantially all the assets 
related to the Movado watch brand from the Swiss manufacturer of Movado watches. 
The Movado brand, which was established in 1881, has become the Company's 
largest brand. 
 
On October 7, 1993, the Company completed a public offering of 2,666,667 shares 
of common stock, par value $.01 per share (the "Common Stock"). On October 21, 
1997, the Company completed a secondary stock offering in which 1,500,000 shares 
of Common Stock were issued. On May 21, 2001, the Company moved from the NASDAQ 
National Market to the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"). The Common Stock is 
traded on the NYSE under the trading symbol MOV. 
 
On December 22, 2003, the Company signed a definitive agreement with LVMH Moet 
Hennessy Louis Vuitton ("LVMH") to acquire Ebel S.A. and the worldwide business 
related to the Ebel brand. On March 1, 2004, the Company completed the 
acquisition of Ebel with the exception of Ebel's business in Germany, which is 
expected to be completed on or about May 1, 2004. The Ebel brand, one of the 
world's premier luxury watch brands, was established in La Chaux-de-Fonds, 
Switzerland in 1911. 
 
The Company operates internationally through wholly-owned subsidiaries in 
Switzerland, France, Hong Kong, Canada, Japan and Singapore. Its executive 
offices are located in Paramus, New Jersey. 
 
INDUSTRY OVERVIEW 
 
The largest markets for watches are North America, Western Europe and Asia. 
According to the Federation of the Swiss Watch Industry, Swiss finished watch 
production was 25.9 million units or approximately 10.1 billion Swiss francs in 
2003, a decrease of 4.4% or 461 million Swiss francs below 2002 production. The 
Company's Swiss watch brands include Movado, Concord, ESQ, Coach and as of 
March 1, 2004, Ebel. 
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The Company divides the watch market into six principal categories as set forth 
in the following table: 
 
                                                       Primary Category of 
                             Suggested Retail           Movado Group, Inc. 
    Market Category            Price Range                     Brands 
  --------------------       ----------------       ------------------------ 
      Exclusive              $10,000 and over           Concord and Ebel 
       Luxury                $1,000 to $9,999       Concord, Ebel and Movado 
       Premium                 $500 to $999                  Movado 
      Moderate                 $126 to $499               ESQ and Coach 
  Fashion Watch Market          $55 to $125              Tommy Hilfiger 
      Mass Market              Less than $55                   -- 
 
The Company's Concord and Ebel watches compete primarily in the Luxury category 
of the market, although certain Concord and Ebel watches compete in the 
Exclusive category. The Company's Movado watches compete primarily in the 
Premium category of the market, although certain Movado watches compete in the 
Luxury category. The Company's Coach and ESQ brands compete in the Moderate 
category. The Company entered the Fashion Watch Market category in March 2001 
with the launch of the Tommy Hilfiger line of watches manufactured, distributed 
and marketed under a license agreement with Tommy Hilfiger Licensing, Inc. The 
Company does not sell watches in the Mass Market category. 
 
Exclusive Watches 
 
Exclusive watches are usually made of precious metals, including 18 karat gold 
or platinum, and may be set with precious gems, including diamonds, emeralds, 
rubies and sapphires. These watches are primarily mechanical or quartz-analog 
watches. Mechanical watches keep time with intricate mechanical movements 
consisting of an arrangement of wheels, jewels and winding and regulating 
mechanisms. Quartz-analog watches have quartz movements in which time is 
precisely calibrated to the regular frequency of the vibration of quartz 
crystal. Exclusive watches are manufactured almost entirely in Switzerland. In 
addition to the Company's Concord and Ebel watches, well-known brand names of 
Exclusive watches include Audemars Piguet, Patek Philippe, Piaget and Vacheron 
Constantin. 
 
Luxury Watches 
 
Luxury watches are either quartz-analog watches or mechanical watches. These 
watches typically are made with either 14 or 18 karat gold, stainless steel or a 
combination of gold and stainless steel, and are occasionally set with precious 
gems. Luxury watches are primarily manufactured in Switzerland. In addition to a 
majority of the Company's Concord and Ebel watches and certain Movado watches, 
well-known brand names of Luxury watches include Baume & Mercier, Breitling, 
Cartier, Omega, Rolex and TAG Heuer. 
 
Premium Watches 
 
The majority of Premium watches are quartz-analog watches. These watches 
typically are made with gold finish, stainless steel or a combination of gold 
finish and stainless steel. Premium watches are manufactured primarily in 
Switzerland, although some are manufactured in Asia. In addition to a majority 
of the Company's Movado watches, well-known brand names of Premium watches 
include Gucci, Rado and Raymond Weil. 
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Moderate Watches 
 
Most Moderate watches are quartz-analog watches. Moderate watches are 
manufactured primarily in Asia and Switzerland. These watches typically are made 
with gold finish, stainless steel, brass or a combination of gold finish and 
stainless steel. In addition to the Company's ESQ and Coach brands, well-known 
brand names of watches in the Moderate category include Anne Klein, Bulova, 
Citizen, Gucci, Guess, Seiko and Wittnauer. 
 
Fashion Watch Market Watches 
 
Watches comprising the Fashion Watch Market are primarily quartz-analog watches 
but also include some digital watches. Digital watches, unlike quartz-analog 
watches, have no moving parts. Instead, time is kept by electronic microchips 
and is displayed as discrete Arabic digits illuminated on the watch face by 
light emitting diodes (LED's) or liquid crystal displays (LCD's). Watches in the 
Fashion Watch Market category are generally made with stainless steel, gold 
finish, brass and/or plastic and are manufactured primarily in Asia. Fashion 
Watch Market watches are based on designs and use features that attempt to 
reflect current and emerging fashion trends. Many are sold under licensed 
designer and brand names that are well-known principally in the apparel 
industry. In addition to the Company's Tommy Hilfiger brand, other well-known 
brands of Fashion Watch Market watches include Anne Klein II, DKNY, Fossil, 
Guess, Kenneth Cole and Swatch. 
 
Mass Market Watches 
 
Mass Market watches typically consist of digital watches and analog watches made 
from stainless steel, brass and/or plastic and are manufactured in Asia. 
Well-known brands include Casio, Citizen, Pulsar, Seiko and Timex. 
 
PRODUCTS 
 
During fiscal 2004, the Company marketed five distinctive brands of watches: 
Movado, Concord, ESQ, Coach and Tommy Hilfiger, which compete in the Exclusive, 
Luxury, Premium, Moderate and Fashion Watch Market categories. The Company 
designs, manufactures and contracts for the assembly of Movado and Concord 
watches primarily in Switzerland for sale throughout the world. ESQ and Tommy 
Hilfiger watches are manufactured to the Company's specifications by independent 
contractors located in Asia. ESQ watches are presently sold primarily in North 
America and the Caribbean. Tommy Hilfiger watches are presently sold throughout 
the world. Coach watches are assembled in Switzerland by independent contractors 
and sold primarily in North America, the Caribbean and Asia. 
 
Movado 
 
Founded in 1881 in La Chaux-de-Fonds, Switzerland, the Movado brand today 
includes a line of watches based on the design of the world famous Movado Museum 
watch and a number of other watch collections with more traditional dial 
designs. The design for the Movado Museum watch was the first watch design 
chosen by the Museum of Modern Art for its permanent collection. It has since 
been honored by 10 other museums throughout the world. All Movado watches have 
Swiss movements and are made with 14 or 18 karat gold, 18 karat gold finish, 
stainless steel or a combination of 18 karat gold finish and stainless steel. 
The majority of Movado watches have suggested retail prices between $850 and 
$4,100. 
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Concord 
 
Concord was founded in 1908 in Bienne, Switzerland. All Concord watches have 
Swiss movements and are made with solid 18 karat or 14 karat gold, stainless 
steel or a combination of 18 karat gold and stainless steel. The majority of 
Concord watches have suggested retail prices between $1,700 and $14,000. 
 
Coach 
 
During fiscal 1999, the Company introduced Coach watches under an exclusive 
license with Coach, Inc. All Coach watches contain Swiss movements and are made 
with stainless steel, gold finish or a combination of stainless steel and gold 
finish with leather straps, stainless steel bracelets or gold finish bracelets. 
The majority of Coach watches have suggested retail prices ranging from $230 to 
$460. 
 
ESQ 
 
ESQ was launched in the second half of fiscal 1993 under an exclusive license 
agreement with The Hearst Corporation. All ESQ watches contain Swiss movements 
and are made with stainless steel, gold finish or a combination of stainless 
steel and gold finish, with leather straps, stainless steel bracelets or gold 
finish bracelets. The ESQ brand consists of sport and fashion watches with 
features and styles comparable to more expensive watches. The majority of ESQ 
watches have suggested retail prices ranging from $195 to $325. 
 
Tommy Hilfiger 
 
The Company launched Tommy Hilfiger watches in March 2001, under an exclusive 
agreement with Tommy Hilfiger Licensing, Inc., marketed under the TOMMY 
HILFIGER(R) and TOMMY(R) labels. Tommy Hilfiger watches feature quartz, digital 
or analog-digital movements, with stainless steel, titanium, aluminum, 
silver-tone, two-tone or gold-tone cases and bracelets, and leather, fabric, 
plastic or rubber straps. The line includes fashion and sport models with the 
majority of Tommy Hilfiger watches having suggested retail prices ranging from 
$65 to $125. 
 
RETAIL OPERATIONS 
 
The Company operates in two retail sectors, the luxury boutique market and the 
outlet market. At January 31, 2004, the Company's retail operations consisted of 
17 Movado Boutiques and 26 outlet stores. Three additional Movado Boutiques are 
scheduled to open in the first half of fiscal year 2005. The Movado Boutiques, 
the first of which opened in 1998, sell selected models of Movado watches as 
well as proprietary jewelry, tabletop and accessory products. The jewelry, 
tabletop and accessory products are sold exclusively in the Movado Boutiques. 
The outlet stores serve as an effective vehicle to sell discontinued models and 
factory seconds of all of the Company's watches, jewelry, tabletop and accessory 
products. 
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WARRANTY AND REPAIR 
 
The Company has service facilities around the world including five Company-owned 
service facilities and 208 authorized independent service centers worldwide. In 
addition, as part of the acquisition of the Ebel business on March 1, 2004, the 
Company acquired the after-sale service operations of Ebel S.A. located in La 
Chaux-de-Fonds, Switzerland, those of its French subsidiary and contracts with 
approximately 85 independent Ebel service centers worldwide. The Company 
conducts training sessions for and distributes technical information and updates 
to repair personnel in order to maintain consistency and quality at its service 
facilities and authorized independent service centers. The Company's products 
are covered by limited warranties against defects in materials and workmanship 
for periods ranging from two to ten years from the date of purchase for 
movements and up to five years for the gold plating on Movado watch casings and 
bracelets. Products that are returned under warranty to the Company are 
generally serviced by the Company's employees at its service facilities. 
 
The Company retains adequate levels of component parts to facilitate after-sales 
service of its watches for an extended period of time after the discontinuance 
of such watches from its core range line. 
 
ADVERTISING 
 
Advertising is important to the successful marketing of the Company's watches. 
Hence, the Company devotes significant resources to advertising. Since 1972, the 
Company has maintained its own in-house advertising department which today 
focuses primarily on the implementation and management of global marketing and 
advertising strategies. The Company utilizes the creative development of 
advertising campaigns from outside agencies. Advertising expenditures totaled 
approximately 16.1%, 16.8% and 19.0% of net sales in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. Advertising is developed individually for each of the Company's 
watch brands and is directed primarily to the end consumer rather than to trade 
customers. In addition, advertising is developed by targeting consumers with 
particular demographic characteristics appropriate to the image and price range 
of the brand. Advertisements are placed predominately in magazines and other 
print media, but are also created for radio and television campaigns, 
catalogues, outdoor and promotional materials. 
 
BACKLOG 
 
Historically, the Company has generated a significant portion of its backlog 
during the international trade fair held annually in Basel, Switzerland. The 
Basel Watch and Jewelry Fair is held in March or April every year and is the 
showcase for all global watch and jewelry companies where new product offerings 
are introduced and orders are taken for delivery throughout the course of the 
year. The 2004 Fair began on April 15, 2004 and the 2003 Fair was also in April. 
Therefore, there are no unfilled orders from the Fair included in the amounts of 
either year. At March 31, 2004, the Company had unfilled orders of approximately 
$ 20.2 million compared to $15.0 million at March 31, 2003. The unfilled orders 
include both confirmed orders and orders the Company believes will be confirmed 
based on the historic experience with the customers. It is customary for many of 
the Company's customers not to confirm their future orders with a formal 
purchase order until shortly before their desired delivery. 
 
SOURCES AND AVAILABILITY OF SUPPLIES 
 
Concord and Movado watches are generally assembled in Switzerland by independent 
third party subcontract assemblers with some assembly at the Concord 
manufacturing facility in Bienne, Switzerland. Movado and Concord watches are 
assembled using Swiss movements and other components obtained from third party 
suppliers. Coach watches are assembled in Switzerland by independent assemblers 
using Swiss movements and other components obtained from third party suppliers 
in Switzerland and elsewhere. ESQ and Tommy Hilfiger watches are assembled by 
independent contractors in Asia. ESQ watches are manufactured using Swiss 
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movements and other components purchased from third party suppliers principally 
located in Asia. Tommy Hilfiger watches are manufactured using movements and 
other components purchased from third party suppliers located in Asia. 
 
Ebel watches are currently assembled at the Ebel facility in La Chaux-de-Fonds, 
Switzerland using Swiss movements and other components from third party 
suppliers. 
 
A majority of the watch movements used in the manufacture of Movado, Concord and 
ESQ watches are purchased from two suppliers. The Company obtains other watch 
components for all of its manufactured brands, including movements, cases, 
hands, dials, bracelets and straps from a number of other suppliers. Precious 
stones used in the Company's watches are purchased from various suppliers and 
are set in Switzerland. The Company does not have long-term supply contract 
commitments with any of its component parts suppliers. 
 
COMPETITION 
 
The markets for each of the Company's watch brands are highly competitive. With 
the exception of the Swatch Group, Ltd., a large Swiss-based competitor, no 
single company competes with the Company across all of its brands. Certain 
companies, however, compete with Movado Group, Inc. with respect to one or more 
of its watch brands. Certain of these companies have, and other companies that 
may enter the Company's markets in the future may have, substantially greater 
financial, distribution, marketing and advertising resources than the Company. 
The Company's future success will depend, to a significant degree, upon its 
continued ability to compete effectively with regard to, among other things, the 
style, quality, price, advertising, marketing, distribution and availability of 
supply of the Company's watches and other products. 
 
TRADEMARKS, PATENTS AND LICENSE AGREEMENTS 
 
The Company owns the trademarks MOVADO(R), CONCORD(R) and, as of March 1, 2004, 
EBEL(R), as well as trademarks for the Movado Museum dial design, and related 
trademarks for watches and jewelry in the United States and in numerous other 
countries. 
 
The Company licenses ESQUIRE(R), ESQ(R) and related trademarks on an exclusive 
basis for use in connection with the manufacture, distribution, advertising and 
sale of watches pursuant to an agreement with The Hearst Corporation ("Hearst 
License Agreement"). The current term of the Hearst License Agreement expires 
December 31, 2006, but contains options for renewal at the Company's discretion 
through December 31, 2018. 
 
The Company licenses the trademark COACH(R) and related trademarks on an 
exclusive basis for use in connection with the manufacture, distribution, 
advertising and sale of watches pursuant to an agreement with Coach, Inc. 
("Coach License Agreement"). The Coach License Agreement expires on January 31, 
2008. 
 
Under an agreement with Tommy Hilfiger Licensing, Inc. ("THLI"), the Company has 
been granted the exclusive license to use the trademark TOMMY HILFIGER(R) and 
related trademarks in connection with the manufacture of watches worldwide and 
in connection with the marketing, advertising, sale and distribution of watches 
at wholesale (and at retail through its outlet stores) in North America, Europe, 
Hong Kong, Australia, Southeast Asia (excluding Japan and Korea), the Caribbean, 
duty free and U.S. military shops worldwide. In addition, the Company has been 
granted the right to sell such watches in Latin and South America. The initial 
term of the license agreement with THLI expires December 31, 2006, but can be 
extended at the request of the Company through December 31, 2011, if the Company 
is in compliance with all material terms of the agreement. 
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The Company also owns, and has pending applications for, a number of design 
patents in the United States and internationally for various watch designs, as 
well as designs of watch cases, bracelets and jewelry. 
 
The Company actively seeks to protect and enforce its intellectual property 
rights by working with industry associations, anti-counterfeiting organizations, 
private investigators and law enforcement authorities, including the United 
States Customs Service and, when necessary, sues infringers of its trademarks 
and patents. Consequently, the Company is involved from time to time in 
litigation or other proceedings to determine the enforceability, scope and 
validity of these rights. With respect to the trademarks MOVADO(R) and 
CONCORD(R) and certain other related trademarks, the Company has received 
exclusion orders that prohibit the importation of counterfeit goods or goods 
bearing confusingly similar trademarks into the United States. In accordance 
with Customs regulations, these exclusion orders, however, cannot cover the 
importation of gray-market Movado or Concord watches because the Company is the 
manufacturer of such watches. All of the Company's exclusion orders are 
renewable. 
 
EMPLOYEES 
 
As of January 31, 2004, the Company had 943 full-time employees in its domestic 
and international operations. With the acquisition of the worldwide Ebel 
business, the Company also employed approximately 250 employees dedicated to 
Ebel production, distribution, marketing and sales, of whom 175 are employed in 
Ebel's La Chaux-de-Fonds facility. The Company has announced that it plans to 
reduce its La Chaux-de-Fonds workforce by approximately 70 employees. No 
employee of the Company is represented by a labor union or is subject to a 
collective bargaining agreement. The Company has never experienced a work 
stoppage due to labor difficulties and believes that its employee relations are 
good. 
 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT OPERATING SEGMENTS AND SEASONALITY 
 
Overview 
 
The Company conducts its business primarily in two operating segments: Wholesale 
and Retail. The Company's Wholesale segment includes the designing, 
manufacturing and distribution of quality watches, in addition to revenue 
generated from after-sales service activities and shipping. The Retail segment 
includes the Company's Movado Boutiques and its outlet stores. 
 
The Company divides its business into two major geographic segments: Domestic, 
which includes the results of the Company's North American, Caribbean and Tommy 
Hilfiger South American operations, and International, which includes the 
results of all other Company operations. The Company's International operations 
are principally conducted in Europe, the Middle East and Asia. The Company's 
International assets are substantially located in Europe. 
 
 
Domestic Wholesale 
 
The Company sells all of its brands in the domestic market primarily through 
major jewelry store chains such as Helzberg Diamonds Corp., Sterling, Inc. and 
Zales Corporation; department stores, such as Finlay Fine Jewelry, Macy's, 
Neiman-Marcus and Saks Fifth Avenue; and independent jewelers. Sales to trade 
customers in the United States, Canada and the Caribbean are made directly by 
the Company's sales organization of approximately 130 employees. Of these 
employees, sales representatives are responsible for a defined geographic 
territory, specialize in a particular brand and sell to and service the 
independent jewelers within their territory. Their compensation is based on 
salary plus commission. The sales force also consists of account executives and 
account representatives who, respectively, sell to and service the chain and 
department store accounts. The latter typically handle more than one of the 
Company's brands and are compensated based on 
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salary and incentives. In South America, the Company sells Tommy Hilfiger 
watches through an independent distributor. 
 
The Company's domestic sales are traditionally greater during the Christmas and 
holiday season and are significantly more seasonal than its international sales. 
Consequently, the Company's net sales historically have been higher during the 
second half of the fiscal year. The second half of each year accounted for 
approximately 58.6%, 56.8% and 55.0% of the Company's net sales for the fiscal 
years ended January 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The amount of net 
sales and operating income generated during the second half of each fiscal year 
depends upon the general level of retail sales during the Christmas and holiday 
season, as well as economic conditions and other factors beyond the Company's 
control. The Company does not expect any significant change in the seasonality 
of its domestic business in the foreseeable future. 
 
International Wholesale 
 
The Company sells Movado, Concord and Coach watches and, as of March 1, 2004, 
Ebel watches, internationally through its own sales force of approximately 60 
employees operating from the Company's sales and distribution offices in Hong 
Kong, Japan, Singapore and Switzerland. In addition, the Company sells Movado, 
Concord, Coach, Ebel and Tommy Hilfiger watches through a network of 
approximately 90 independent distributors operating in numerous countries around 
the world. A majority of the Company's arrangements with its international 
distributors are long-term, generally require certain minimum purchases and 
restrict the distributor from selling competitive products. International sales 
tend to be less seasonal than domestic sales, particularly those derived from 
the Middle Eastern and Asian markets. 
 
Retail 
 
The Company operates in two retail sectors, the luxury boutique market and the 
outlet market. The Company operates 17 Movado Boutiques in the luxury boutique 
market where Movado watches are sold as well as Movado jewelry, tabletop, 
accessories and other product line extensions. In the outlet market the Company 
operates 26 outlet stores, which sell the Company's discontinued models and 
factory seconds, and provide the Company with an organized and efficient method 
of reducing inventory without competing directly with trade customers. 
 
AVAILABLE INFORMATION 
 
The Company's Internet address is www.movadogroupinc.com and it makes available 
through that website its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or 
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after the same are 
electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. 
 
The Company has adopted and will post on its website at www.movadogroupinc.com, 
prior to its 2004 annual meeting of shareholders, a Code of Business Conduct and 
Ethics that applies to all directors, officers and employees, including the 
Company's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and principal 
accounting and financial officers. The Company will post any amendments to the 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and any waivers that are required to be 
disclosed by SEC regulations on the Company's website. In addition, the 
Company's audit committee charter, compensation committee charter, 
nominating/corporate governance committee charter and corporate governance 
guidelines will also be posted on the Company's website prior to the Company's 
2004 annual meeting of shareholders. 
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Item 2.  Properties 
 
The Company leases various facilities in the United States, Canada, Switzerland 
and Asia for its corporate, manufacturing, distribution and sales operations. As 
of January 31, 2004, the Company's leased facilities were as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                                        Square        Lease 
Location                        Function                                Footage     Expiration 
- --------                        --------                                -------     ---------- 
                                                                            
Moonachie, New Jersey           Watch assembly, distribution and        100,000     May 2010 
                                repair 
Paramus, New Jersey             Executive offices                        80,400     June 2013 
Bienne, Switzerland             Corporate functions, watch sales,        53,600     January 2007 
                                distribution, assembly and repair 
Markham, Canada                 Office, distribution and repair          11,200     June 2007 
Kowloon, Hong Kong              Watch sales, distribution and repair      4,100     March 2009 
Hackensack, New Jersey          Warehouse                                 6,600     July 2004 
Chang An Dongguan, China        China office (market research)            9,600     March 2009 
New York, New York              Public relations office                   2,700     April 2008 
Grenchen, Switzerland           Watch sales                               2,800     December 2005 
Coral Gables, Florida           Caribbean office, watch sales             1,500     November 2006 
Tokyo, Japan                    Watch sales                               1,200     June 2004 
Singapore                       Watch sales, distribution and repair      1,100     August 2004 
 
 
The Company believes that its existing facilities are suitable and adequate for 
its current operations. The Company leases retail space averaging 1,600 square 
feet per store with leases expiring from July 2004 to June 2013 for the 
operation of the Company's 26 outlet stores. The Company also leases retail 
space for the operation of its Movado Boutiques, each of which averages 2,300 
square feet (with the exception of the Company's flagship Movado Boutique in New 
York City which is 4,700 square feet) under leases expiring from January 2005 to 
January 2015. 
 
With the acquisition of the Ebel worldwide business on March 1, 2004, the 
Company acquired a number of properties located in La Chaux-de-Fonds, 
Switzerland used in the production process, as well as an architecturally 
significant building in La Chaux-de-Fonds, and a building in Basel, Switzerland. 
 
The Company also owns approximately 2,400 square feet of office space in Hanau, 
Germany, which it previously used for sales, distribution and watch repair 
functions. The Company is currently leasing out this facility. 
 
Item 3.  Legal Proceedings 
 
The Company is involved in certain legal proceedings arising in the normal 
course of its business. The Company believes that none of these proceedings, 
either individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on 
the Company's operating results, liquidity or its financial position. 
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Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
 
No matters were submitted to a vote of shareholders of the Company during the 
fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. 
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                                     PART II 
 
Item 5.  Market for Registrant's Common Stock and Related Shareholder Matters 
 
As of March 31, 2004, there were 46 holders of record of Class A Common Stock 
and, the Company estimates, approximately 2,124 beneficial owners of the Common 
Stock represented by 410 holders of record. The Common Stock is traded on the 
New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "MOV" and on March 31, 2004, the 
closing price of the Common Stock was $29.94. The quarterly high and low closing 
prices for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows: 
 
                              Fiscal 2004                    Fiscal 2003 
                              -----------                    ----------- 
     Quarter Ended       Low              High          Low              High 
     -------------       ---              ----          ---              ---- 
     April 30           $17.61           $20.50        $17.19           $22.69 
     July 31            $19.88           $24.34        $18.04           $25.03 
     October 31         $20.65           $24.25        $14.69           $19.92 
     January 31         $25.14           $31.50        $16.52           $19.84 
 
In connection with the October 7, 1993, public offering, each share of the then 
currently existing Class A Common Stock was converted into 10.46 shares of new 
Class A Common Stock, par value of $.01 per share (the "Class A Common Stock"). 
Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote per share and each share of 
Class A Common Stock is entitled to 10 votes per share on all matters submitted 
to a vote of the shareholders. Each holder of Class A Common Stock is entitled 
to convert, at any time, any and all such shares into the same number of shares 
of Common Stock. Each share of Class A Common Stock is converted automatically 
into Common Stock in the event that the beneficial or record ownership of such 
shares of Class A Common Stock is transferred to any person, except to certain 
family members or affiliated persons deemed "permitted transferees" pursuant to 
the Company's Amended Restated Certificate of Incorporation. The Class A Common 
Stock is not publicly traded and consequently, there is currently no established 
public trading market for these shares. 
 
During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2003, the Board of Directors approved 
four $0.03 per share quarterly cash dividends on the Common Stock and Class A 
Common Stock. During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004, the Board of 
Directors approved a $0.03 per share dividend in the first quarter and a $0.06 
per share dividend in the second, third and fourth quarters. On March 10, 2004, 
the Board approved an increase in the quarterly cash dividend rate from $0.06 to 
$0.08 per share and approved a 2 for 1 stock split to be effected by means of a 
stock dividend distributable on June 25, 2004, to shareholders of record as of 
June 11, 2004, subject to shareholder approval of an increase in the number of 
authorized shares of Common Stock and Class A Common Stock at the annual 
shareholders meeting. The declaration and payment of future dividends, if any, 
will be at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend upon 
the Company's profitability, financial condition, capital and surplus 
requirements, future prospects, terms of indebtedness and other factors deemed 
relevant by the Board of Directors. See Notes 4 and 5 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements regarding contractual restrictions on the Company's ability 
to pay dividends. 
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data 
 
The selected financial data presented below has been derived from the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. This information should be read in 
conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations" contained in Item 7 of this report. Amounts 
are in thousands except per share amounts: 
 
 
 
                                                                      Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 
                                             --------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                2004             2003             2002              2001             2000 
                                             --------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                                       
Statement of income data: 
Net sales                                       $330,214         $300,077         $299,725          $320,841         $295,067 
Cost of sales                                    129,908          115,907          115,653           123,392          126,667 
Selling, general and administrative              165,525          152,394          157,799           163,317          152,631 
                                             ------------     ------------    -------------     -------------    ------------- 
Total costs and expenses                         295,433          268,301          273,452           286,709          279,298 
                                             ------------     ------------    -------------     -------------    ------------- 
Operating income                                  34,781           31,776           26,273            34,132           15,769 
Interest expense, net                              3,044            3,916            5,415             6,443            5,372 
Gain on disposition of business                        -                -                -                 -            4,752 
Income before taxes and cumulative 
effect of a change in accounting 
principle                                         31,737           27,860           20,858            27,689           15,149 
 
Provision for income taxes (1)                     8,886            7,801            3,735             6,922            1,428 
                                             ------------     ------------    -------------     -------------    ------------- 
Income before cumulative effect of a 
change in accounting principle                    22,851           20,059           17,123            20,767           13,721 
 
Cumulative effect of a change in 
accounting principle                                   -                -            (109)                 -                - 
                                             ------------     ------------    -------------     -------------    ------------- 
 
Net income (2) (3)                               $22,851          $20,059          $17,014           $20,767         $ 13,721 
                                             ============     ============    =============     =============    ============= 
 
Net income per share-Basic (2) (3)                 $1.90            $1.69            $1.46             $1.78            $1.10 
Net income per share-Diluted (2) (3)               $1.84            $1.65            $1.42             $1.75            $1.06 
Basic shares outstanding                          12,050           11,870           11,683            11,651           12,527 
Diluted shares outstanding                        12,439           12,190           12,007            11,866           12,890 
Cash dividends declared per share                  $0.21            $0.12            $0.12            $0.105            $0.10 
 
Balance sheet data (end of period): 
Working capital                                 $242,970         $219,420         $153,932          $154,637         $157,465 
Total assets                                    $390,967         $345,154         $290,676          $290,405         $259,649 
Long-term debt                                   $25,000          $35,000          $35,000           $40,000          $45,000 
Shareholders' equity                            $274,712         $236,212         $172,470          $159,470         $147,815 
 
 
(1)  Reflects a lower estimated tax rate adjustment in fiscal 2002 due to a 
     shift in global earnings mix. 
 
(2)  Fiscal 2000 includes an $8.3 million pre-tax or $0.46 per share after tax 
     one-time charge and $4.8 million pre-tax or $0.28 per share after tax gain 
     from the sale of the Company's Piaget business. Excluding these items, net 
     income would have been $15.9 million or $1.24 per share on a diluted basis. 
 
(3)  Fiscal 2002 includes a pre-tax expense of $2.7 million relating to a 
     one-time severance and early retirement charge. Excluding the one-time 
     severance and early retirement charge and income tax rate adjustment, net 
     income would have been $16.9 million or $1.40 per diluted share. 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
        of Operations 
 
GENERAL 
 
Wholesale Sales. The primary factors that influence annual sales are general 
economic conditions in the Company's domestic and international markets, new 
product introductions, the level and effectiveness of advertising and marketing 
expenditures and product pricing decisions. 
 
Approximately 13% of the Company's total sales are from international markets 
and therefore reported sales made in those markets are affected by foreign 
exchange rates. Significant portions of the Company's international sales are 
billed in Swiss francs and translated to U.S. dollars at average exchange rates 
for financial reporting purposes. With the acquisition of Ebel, the Company 
expects that a slightly higher percentage of its total sales will be derived 
from international markets in the future. 
 
The Company's business is seasonal. There are two major selling seasons in the 
Company's domestic markets: the Spring season, which includes school graduations 
and several holidays and, most importantly, the Christmas and holiday season. 
Major selling seasons in certain international markets center on significant 
local holidays that occur in late Winter or early Spring. These markets are a 
less significant portion of the Company's business and, therefore, their impact 
is far less than that of the selling seasons in North America. 
 
Retail Sales. The Company's retail operations consist of 17 Movado Boutiques and 
26 outlet stores located throughout the United States. The Company does not have 
any retail operations outside of the United States. 
 
The significant factors that influence annual sales volumes in the Company's 
retail operations are similar to those that influence domestic wholesale sales. 
In addition, many of the Company's outlet stores are located near vacation 
destinations and, therefore, the seasonality of these stores is driven by the 
peak tourist seasons associated with these locations. 
 
Gross Margins. The Company's overall gross margins are primarily affected by 
four major factors: brand and product sales mix, product pricing strategy, 
manufacturing costs and the U.S. dollar/Swiss franc exchange rate. 
 
Gross margins vary among the brands included in the Company's portfolio and also 
among watch models within each brand. Luxury and premium retail price point 
models generally earn lower gross margins than moderate price models. Gross 
margins in the Company's outlet business are lower than those of the wholesale 
business since the outlets primarily sell seconds and discontinued models that 
generally command lower selling prices. Gross margins from the sale of watches 
in the Movado Boutiques exceed those of the wholesale business since the Company 
earns full channel margins from manufacture to point of sale to the consumer. 
 
All of the Company's brands compete with a number of other brands on the basis 
of not only styling but also wholesale and retail price. The Company's ability 
to improve margins through price increases is therefore, to some extent, 
constrained by competitors' actions. 
 
Manufacturing costs of the Company's brands consist primarily of component 
costs, internal and subcontractor assembly costs and unit overhead costs 
associated with the Company's supply chain operations in Switzerland and Asia. 
The Company seeks to control and reduce component and subcontractor labor costs 
through a combination of negotiations with existing suppliers and alternative 
sourcing. The Company's supply chain operations consist of logistics management 
of assembly operations and product sourcing in Switzerland and Asia and minor 
assembly in Switzerland. Through productivity improvement efforts, the Company 
has controlled the level of overhead costs and maintained flexibility in its 
cost structure by outsourcing a significant portion of its component and 
assembly requirements and expects to extend this strategy over the near term. 
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Since a substantial amount of the Company's product costs are incurred in Swiss 
francs, fluctuations in the U.S. dollar/Swiss franc exchange rate can impact the 
Company's production costs and, therefore, its gross margins. The Company hedges 
its Swiss franc purchases using a combination of forward contracts, purchased 
currency options and spot purchases. The Company's hedging program has, in the 
recent past, been reasonably successful in helping to stabilize product costs 
and gross margins despite exchange rate fluctuations. 
 
Selling, General and Administrative ("SG&A") Expenses. The Company's SG&A 
expenses consist primarily of advertising, selling, distribution and general and 
administrative expenses. Annual advertising expenditures are based principally 
on overall strategic considerations relative to maintaining or increasing market 
share in markets that management considers to be crucial to the Company's 
continued success as well as on general economic conditions in the various 
markets around the world in which the Company sells its products. 
 
Selling expenses consist primarily of salaries, sales commissions, sales force 
travel and entertainment, expenses associated with the Basel Watch and Jewelry 
Fair and other industry trade shows and operating costs incurred in connection 
with the Company's retail business. Sales commissions vary with overall sales 
levels. Retail SG&A expenses consist primarily of salaries and store rents. 
 
Distribution expenses consist primarily of salaries of distribution staff, 
rental and other occupancy costs, security, depreciation and amortization of 
furniture and leasehold improvements and shipping supplies. 
 
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other 
employee compensation, employee benefit plan costs, office rent, management 
information systems costs, bad debts, patent and trademark expenses and various 
other general corporate expenses. 
 
SG&A expenses over the last three years reflect the net effect of the Company's 
efforts to reduce spending, implement productivity improvements, and at the same 
time, invest in strategic growth initiatives, including the Movado Boutique 
expansion and the launch of the Tommy Hilfiger watch line. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 
 
The Company's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and those 
significant policies are more fully described in Note 1 to MGI's consolidated 
financial statements. The preparation of these financial statements and the 
application of certain critical accounting policies require management to make 
judgments based on estimates and assumptions that affect the information 
reported. On an on-going basis, management reevaluates its estimates and 
judgments, including those related to sales discounts and markdowns, product 
returns, bad debt, inventories, income taxes, financing operations, warranty 
obligations, and contingencies and litigation. Management bases its estimates 
and judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources on historical experience, contractual 
commitments and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions or conditions. Management believes the following are the 
critical accounting policies requiring significant judgments and estimates used 
in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
The Company recognizes its revenue upon transfer of title and risk of loss, or 
in the case of retail sales, at the time of register receipt. The Company 
records estimates for returns and sales and cash discount allowances in the same 
period the revenue is recorded. These estimates are based upon historical 
analysis, customer agreements and/or currently known factors that arise in the 
normal course of business. While such returns and 
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allowances have historically been within management's expectations and the 
provisions established, future actual experience may differ from that 
experienced in the past. 
 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
 
Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for amounts that may be 
uncollectible in the future. Estimates are used in determining the allowance for 
doubtful accounts and are based on the Company's on-going credit evaluations of 
the customers and customer payment history and account aging. While the actual 
bad debt losses have historically been within the Company's expectations and the 
allowances established, there can be no guarantee that the Company will continue 
to experience the same bad debt loss rates. As of January 31, 2004, there were 
no known situations with any of the Company's major customers which would 
indicate the customer's inability to make their required payments. 
 
Inventories 
 
The Company values its inventory at the lower of cost or market using the 
first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods and component 
inventories, held by overseas subsidiaries, are determined using average cost. 
The Company's management regularly reviews its sales to customers and customers' 
sell-through at retail to determine excess or obsolete inventory reserves. 
Inventory with less than acceptable turn rates is classified as discontinued 
and, together with the related component parts which can be assembled into 
saleable finished goods, is sold through the Company's outlet stores. When 
management determines that finished product and components are unsaleable in the 
Company's outlet stores, a reserve is established for the cost of those products 
and components. These estimates could vary significantly, either favorably or 
unfavorably, from actual requirements depending on future economic conditions, 
customer inventory levels or competitive conditions which may differ from the 
Company's expectations. 
 
Long-Lived Assets 
 
The Company periodically reviews the estimated useful lives of its depreciable 
assets based on factors including historical experience, the expected beneficial 
service period of the asset, the quality and durability of the asset and the 
Company's maintenance policy including periodic upgrades. Changes in useful 
lives are made on a prospective basis unless factors indicate the carrying 
amounts of the assets may not be recoverable and an impairment write-down is 
necessary. 
 
The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate, in management's judgment, that the carrying value of 
such assets may not be recoverable. When such a determination has been made, 
management compares the carrying value of the assets with their estimated future 
undiscounted cash flows. If it is determined that an impairment loss has 
occurred, the loss is recognized during that period. The impairment loss is 
calculated as the difference between asset carrying values and the present value 
of estimated net cash flows or comparable market values, giving consideration to 
recent operating performance and pricing trends. In Fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
there were no impairment losses related to long-lived assets. 
 
Warranty 
 
All watches sold by the Company are covered by limited warranties against 
defects in material and workmanship for periods ranging from two to ten years 
from the date of purchase for movements and up to five years for the gold 
plating for Movado watch cases and bracelets. The Company records an estimate 
for future warranty costs based on historical repair costs. Warranty costs have 
historically been within the Company's 
 
                                       16 



 
 
expectations and the provisions established. If such costs were to substantially 
exceed estimates, this could have an adverse affect on the Company's operating 
results. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, 
"Accounting for Income Taxes" ("SFAS No. 109"). Under the asset and liability 
method of SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for 
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
enacted tax laws and tax rates, in each jurisdiction the Company operates, and 
applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities due to a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period 
that includes the enactment date. In addition, the amounts of any future tax 
benefits are reduced by a valuation allowance to the extent such benefits are 
not expected to be realized on a more-likely-than-not basis. The Company 
calculates estimated income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which it 
operates. This process involves estimating actual current tax expense along with 
assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for 
both book and tax purposes. 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
The following is a discussion of the results of operations for fiscal 2004 
compared to fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2003 compared to fiscal 2002 along with a 
discussion of the changes in financial condition during fiscal 2004. 
 
The following are net sales by business segment (in thousands): 
 
                                            Fiscal Years Ended January 31, 
                                     ------------------------------------------- 
                                         2004           2003            2002 
                                     -----------    -----------      ----------- 
       Wholesale: 
           Domestic                    $224,866       $207,819         $204,685 
           International                 44,475         38,376           47,868 
       Retail                            60,873         53,882           47,172 
                                     -----------    -----------      ----------- 
       Net Sales                       $330,214       $300,077         $299,725 
                                     ===========    ===========      =========== 
 
The following table presents the Company's results of operations expressed as a 
percentage of net sales for the fiscal years indicated: 
 
 
 
 
                                                            Fiscal Years Ended January 31, 
                                                            ------------------------------ 
                                                   2004                2003                  2002 
                                             --------------------------------------------------------- 
 
                                              % of net sales      % of net sales        % of net sales 
                                             --------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                       
Net sales                                        100.0%                  100.0%                100.0% 
 
Cost of sales                                     39.3%                   38.6%                 38.6% 
 
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses 
                                                  50.1%                   50.8%                 52.6% 
 
Interest expense, net                              0.9%                    1.3%                  1.8% 
 
Net income                                         6.9%                    6.7%                  5.7% 
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Fiscal 2004 Compared to Fiscal 2003 
 
Net Sales 
 
Net sales in fiscal 2004 were $330.2 million, or 10.0% above fiscal 2003 sales 
of $300.1 million. For the year, sales increases were recorded in all brands and 
business segments. 
 
Domestic Wholesale Net Sales 
 
The domestic wholesale business increased by 8.2%, or $17.0 million, to $224.9 
million. Double-digit sales increases were recorded in the Concord, Coach and 
Tommy Hilfiger brands and mid single-digit increases were recorded in Movado and 
ESQ. The increase in Concord sales was fueled by higher unit sales volume with 
the introduction of new more accessibly priced steel luxury products. The 
increase in sales in the Coach brand was attributable to the introduction of 
fashion newness in tandem with Coach's new product offerings. The Company 
intends to continue to focus on providing a seamless accessory to the Coach 
leather goods customer. The increases in Tommy Hilfiger brand sales reflect 
continued door expansion in North America as well as positive sell through at 
retail. 
 
International Wholesale Net Sales 
 
The international wholesale business was $44.5 million and was above prior year 
by 15.9%, or $6.1 million. The effect of currency translation and the weak U.S. 
dollar resulted in an increase in net sales of $3.9 million. Significant 
increases were recorded in Tommy Hilfiger as a result of international market 
expansion. Coach was above prior year in double digits with higher volume in the 
Asian and duty free business. The Movado business was below prior year as a 
result of difficult economic conditions in Europe and South America. 
 
Retail Net Sales 
 
Sales in the Company's retail segment increased by $7.0 million, or 13.0%, to 
$60.9 million. Strong comparable store sales increases of 20.1% were recorded in 
the Movado Boutiques. In addition, increases were recorded as a result of the 
expansion into seven new Movado Boutiques opened in fiscal 2004. At January 31, 
2004, the Company operated 17 Movado Boutiques and 26 outlet stores as compared 
to 10 Movado Boutiques and 26 outlet stores at January 31, 2003. 
 
Gross Margin 
 
Gross margin for the year was $200.3 million, an increase of $16.1 million over 
prior year due to the higher sales volume. As a percent of sales, gross margin 
was 60.7% versus 61.4% prior year. The lower gross profit percentage is the 
result of a few factors. The continued negative effect of the weak U.S. dollar 
on Swiss purchases was the major factor. In addition, there was an unfavorable 
mix of sales within the business. 
 
Selling, General and Administrative ("SG&A") Expenses 
 
SG&A expenses of $165.5 million reflect an 8.6% increase from $152.4 million in 
fiscal 2003. As a percentage of sales, SG&A expenses were 50.1% as compared to 
50.8% prior year. Included in the $13.1 million increase in SG&A expenses is 
approximately $2.7 million in higher costs as a result of the translation impact 
of the weak U.S. dollar. In addition, there was increased marketing spending of 
$2.6 million, which included the new Movado television campaign, increased 
operating costs of $4.4 million to support the seven new Movado Boutiques, and 
higher payroll and related costs. 
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Interest Expense 
 
Interest expense in fiscal 2004 declined by $0.9 million from $3.9 million in 
fiscal 2003 to $3.0 million in fiscal 2004. The decrease was due to 
significantly lower weighted average bank borrowings. The average borrowings for 
fiscal 2004 were $50.5 million or 25.7% lower than fiscal 2003 borrowings of 
$68.0 million. This was due to favorable cash flow and working capital 
management. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
The Company's income tax provision amounted to $8.9 and $7.8 million in fiscal 
2004 and 2003, respectively. This represents a 28% effective tax rate in both 
fiscal years. Management believes that with the acquisition of Ebel, a slightly 
higher percentage of its total sales will be derived from lower tax rate 
international markets; thereby slightly reducing the Company's overall effective 
rate in fiscal 2005. 
 
Fiscal 2003 Compared to Fiscal 2002 
 
Net Sales 
 
Net sales in fiscal 2003 were $300.1 million, slightly above fiscal 2002 sales 
of $299.7 million. The wholesale business overall decreased by $6.4 million or 
2.5%. 
 
Domestic Wholesale Net Sales 
 
The domestic wholesale business increased by 1.5% or $3.1 million, to $207.8 
million. The domestic sales increase was fueled by door expansion and strong 
retail sell through of Tommy Hilfiger watches, double-digit growth in the Coach 
brand with the introduction of successful new products and higher sales in the 
Movado brand driven by strong new product introductions and solid marketing 
support. The increases were offset by lower volume in the luxury Concord brand 
and the moderately priced ESQ brand. 
 
International Wholesale Net Sales 
 
The international wholesale business was $38.4 million and was below fiscal 2002 
by $9.5 million, or 19.8%. The effect of currency translation and the weak U.S. 
dollar resulted in an increase of $3.0 million. The weak economic environment in 
Europe and Asia resulted in sales declines in the Concord and Movado brands of 
$12.0 million, or 28.3%. This was partially offset by sales increases in the 
Tommy Hilfiger brand as a result of the launch in four European markets and 
higher sales in the Coach brand in Japan and the duty free business in Asia. 
 
Retail Net Sales 
 
Sales in the Company's retail segment increased by $6.7 million, or 14.2%, to 
$53.9 million, due mainly to year-on-year increases of three new Movado 
Boutiques and three new outlet stores opened in the latter half of fiscal 2002, 
plus the opening of one new outlet store in the latter part of fiscal 2003. In 
addition, comparable store sales increased by 4.2% and 5.5% in the Movado 
Boutiques and outlet stores, respectively. At January 31, 2003, the Company 
owned and operated 10 Movado Boutiques and 26 outlets as compared to 10 Movado 
Boutiques and 25 outlets at January 31, 2002. 
 
Gross Margin 
 
Gross margin for the year remained strong at 61.4% and was consistent with 
fiscal 2002 results. 
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Selling, General and Administrative ("SG&A") Expenses 
 
SG&A expenses of $152.4 million reflect a 3.4% decline from $157.8 million in 
fiscal 2002. As a percentage of sales, SG&A expenses were 50.8% as compared to 
52.6% prior year. The effect of currency translation and the weak U.S. dollar 
resulted in an increase of $1.6 million. The decrease in SG&A expenses of $5.4 
million was the result of a $6.4 million reduction, or 11.3%, in marketing and 
advertising mainly due to decreased media and co-op spending in the 
international wholesale business, slight reductions in distribution expense and 
general and administrative expenses of $1.1 million, or 2.0%, from a $2.7 
million one-time severance and early retirement charge in fiscal 2002, partially 
offset by higher rental expense and higher legal and bad debt expenses. In 
addition, selling expense increased by $2.1 million, or 4.7%, primarily to 
support the expansion of the Movado Boutiques. 
 
Interest Expense 
 
Interest expense in fiscal 2003 declined by $1.5 million from $5.4 million in 
fiscal 2002 to $3.9 million in fiscal 2003. The decrease was due to 
significantly lower weighted average bank borrowings in addition to a lower 
effective interest rate on the borrowings. The average borrowings for fiscal 
2003 were $67.9 million or 17.6% lower than fiscal 2002 borrowings of $82.4 
million. This was due to favorable cash flow and working capital management. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
The Company's income tax provision amounted to $7.8 million and $3.7 million in 
fiscal 2003 and 2002, respectively. This represents a 28% effective tax rate in 
fiscal 2003 versus an 18% rate for fiscal 2002. The effective tax rate in fiscal 
2003 of 28% is more indicative of the Company's expected effective tax rate from 
its future operations. The 18% effective tax rate in fiscal 2002 reflected a 
decrease in the Company's U.S. source earnings as a percentage of the overall 
earnings mix. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
At January 31, 2004, the Company had $82.1 million of cash and cash equivalents 
as compared to $38.4 million in the prior year. The $43.7 million increase in 
cash was primarily derived from $51.6 million of cash generated from operating 
activities, somewhat offset by $11.5 million in cash used in investing 
activities primarily for capital expenditures to support the Movado Boutique 
expansion and normal information systems spending and $1.9 million of cash used 
in financing activities, primarily related to amounts associated with dividends 
paid to shareholders. 
 
The Company's major source of funds has been cash generated from operations. In 
fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company generated cash from operations of $51.6 
million, $33.3 million and $16.5 million, respectively. This positive cash flow 
has been the source to fund the Company's growth initiatives, as well as to pay 
down short-term and long-term debt and to pay dividends. 
 
Accounts receivable at January 31, 2004 were $88.8 million as compared to $94.4 
million in the prior year. The decrease is the result of a shift in the mix of 
business as well as improved global cash collections. These decreases more than 
offset the negative effects of currency translation. Inventories at January 31, 
2004 were $121.7 million as compared to $111.7 million in the prior year. Since 
48.3% of the inventory is held in Switzerland and Canada, the year-on-year 
translation in the balance sheet includes the effect of the weaker U.S. dollar 
in fiscal 2004. The effect of the currency translation was an 
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increase of $4.8 million. The reason for the remaining growth was higher 
inventory to support the seven new Movado Boutiques slightly offset by lower 
wholesale inventory. 
 
The Company used cash of $11.5 million in fiscal 2004, $7.0 million in fiscal 
2003 and $14.7 million in fiscal 2002 for investing activities, primarily for 
capital expenditures. 
 
Capital expenditures totaled $10.8 million in fiscal 2004. The spending was 
primarily for the build out of the seven new Movado Boutiques ($6.5 million), 
systems hardware and software investment ($2.2 million) and remodeling of 
existing retail operations ($1.4 million). In fiscal 2003, capital expenditures 
were $6.5 million and related primarily to the build out of new Movado Boutiques 
opened in the Miami, Florida area in February 2003, various information systems 
projects and enhancements, the addition of a state-of-the-art jewelry vault in 
the Company's Moonachie, New Jersey distribution center and the addition of a 
new outlet store. Capital expenditures amounting to $13.9 million in fiscal 2002 
relate primarily to the relocation of the Company's U.S. headquarters, opening 
two new Movado Boutiques and the flagship Movado Boutique in New York City, 
various information systems projects and expansion of the Company's network of 
outlet stores. The Company expects that annual capital expenditures in the near 
term will approximate the fiscal year 2002 levels. These expenditures will 
relate primarily to leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures for new 
Movado Boutiques, management information systems projects and store renovations. 
 
Cash used in financing activities amounted to $1.9 million in fiscal 2004. This 
compares to $11.1 million and $6.9 million of cash used in financing activities 
in fiscal 2003 and 2002, respectively. Cash used in financing activities during 
fiscal 2004 was primarily for dividends paid to shareholders. In fiscal 2003 and 
2002, cash was used primarily to pay short-term and long-term debt. 
 
At January 31, 2004, the Company had two series of Senior Notes outstanding. 
Senior Notes due January 31, 2005 were originally issued in a private placement 
completed in fiscal 1994. These notes have required annual principal payments of 
$5.0 million since January 1998 and bear interest of 6.56% per annum. The 
Company did not repay any principal in fiscal 2004 due to timing of when 
principal payment is due. The Company repaid $5.0 million in principal of these 
notes in each of fiscal 2003 and 2002. At January 31, 2004, $10.0 million in 
principal of these notes remained outstanding, of which $5.0 million was paid on 
February 2, 2004, with the remaining $5.0 million to be paid on January 31, 
2005. 
 
During fiscal 1999, the Company issued $25.0 million of Series A Senior Notes 
under a Note Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement dated November 30, 1998. The 
$25.0 million Series A Senior Notes bear interest at 6.90%, mature on October 
30, 2010, and are subject to annual repayments of $5.0 million commencing 
October 31, 2006. 
 
As of March 21, 2004, the Company amended its Note Purchase and Private Shelf 
Agreement, originally dated March 21, 2001, to expire on March 21, 2007. This 
agreement allows for the issuance, for up to three years after the date thereof, 
of senior promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of up to $40.0 
million with maturities up to 12 years from their original date of issuance. As 
of January 31, 2004 and 2003, there were no amounts outstanding under the 
agreement. 
 
On June 17, 2003, the Company completed the renewal of its revolving credit line 
with its bank group. The agreement provides for a three year $75.0 million 
unsecured revolving line of credit and $15.0 million of uncommitted working 
capital lines. The line of credit expires on June 17, 2006. The Company had no 
outstanding borrowings under its bank lines at January 31, 2004 and January 31, 
2003, respectively. 
 
Under a series of share repurchase authorizations approved by the Board of 
Directors, the Company has maintained a discretionary buy-back program. There 
were no shares repurchased under the repurchase program 
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during fiscal 2004 or fiscal 2003. As of January 31, 2004, the Company had 
authority to repurchase additional shares for up to $4.5 million against an 
aggregate authorization of $30.0 million. 
 
For fiscal 2004, treasury shares increased by 493,435 as the result of cashless 
exercises of stock options for 642,900 shares of stock. 
 
Cash dividends in fiscal 2004 amounted to $2.5 million compared to $1.6 million 
in fiscal 2003 and $1.4 million in fiscal 2002. 
 
At January 31, 2004, the Company had working capital of $243.0 million as 
compared to $219.4 million in the prior year. The increase in working capital 
was predominantly the result of higher cash, lower debt and an increase in 
assets related to hedging derivatives and the translation of Swiss and Canadian 
inventories. The Company ended fiscal 2004 with no short-term borrowings and 
negative net debt of $47.1 million as compared to no short-term borrowings and 
negative net debt of $3.4 million ending fiscal 2003. Net debt is calculated 
as cash and cash equivalents less short-term and long-term notes. 
 
In summary, the Company made significant progress in generating positive cash 
flow from operating activities in each of the fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002. 
The Company believes it will continue to generate positive cash flow from 
operations in the future. 
 
On March 1, 2004, the Company used 47.9 million Swiss francs in cash 
(approximately $37.8 million based on exchange rates as of that date), to 
complete the acquisition of the Ebel business from LVMH Moet Hennessy Louis 
Vuitton pursuant to a Share Purchase and Transfer of Assets and Liabilities 
Agreement, dated December 22, 2003. 
 
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
Payments due by period (in thousands): 
 
 
 
                                                         Less than 1            1-3                4-5             More than 5 
                                         Total              year               years              years               years 
                                        -------            -------            -------            -------            ------- 
                                                                                                       
Contractual Obligations: 
Long-Term Debt Obligations              $35,000            $10,000            $ 5,000            $10,000            $10,000 
Operating Lease Obligations              67,508              9,456             17,883             14,304             25,865 
Revolving Credit Lines                        -                  -                  -                  -                  - 
                                        -------            -------            -------            -------            ------- 
Total Contractual Obligations          $102,508            $19,456            $22,883            $24,304            $35,865 
                                        =======            =======            =======            =======            ======= 
 
 
RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
 
In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, "Amendment of Statement 133 on 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." SFAS No. 149 amends and 
clarifies accounting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative 
instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS 
No. 133. In particular, SFAS No. 149 clarifies under what circumstances a 
contract with an initial net investment meets the characteristic of a derivative 
and when a derivative contains a financing component that warrants special 
reporting in the statement of cash flows. SFAS No. 149 is generally effective 
for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 
No. 149 did not have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
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In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, "Accounting for Certain Financial 
Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity." SFAS No. 150 
requires certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and 
have characteristics of both liabilities and equity to be classified as 
liabilities (or an asset in some circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effective for 
financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise 
is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 
15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have an impact on the Company's 
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows as the 
Company does not currently have any such instruments. 
 
In January 2003, FASB Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), "Consolidation of Variable 
Interest Entities" was issued. FIN 46 provides guidance on consolidating 
variable interest entities and applies immediately to variable interests created 
after January 31, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB revised and superceded FIN 46 
with the issuance of FIN 46R in order to address certain implementation issues 
which will be adopted in the first reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. 
The interpretation requires variable interest entities to be consolidated if the 
equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit an entity to finance its 
activities without support from other parties or the equity investors lack 
certain specified characteristics. The adoption of FIN 46 did not have an impact 
on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash 
flows. 
 
In December 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting 
Bulletin No. 104 (SAB 104), Revenue Recognition. SAB 104 supercedes SAB 101, 
Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements to include the guidance from 
Emerging Issues Task Force EITF 00-21 "Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with 
Multiple Deliverables." The adoption of SAB 104 did not have an impact on the 
Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk 
 
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk 
 
The Company's primary market risk exposure relates to foreign currency exchange 
risk (see Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The majority of the 
Company's purchases are denominated in Swiss francs. The Company reduces its 
exposure to the Swiss franc exchange rate risk through a hedging program. Under 
the hedging program, the Company purchases various financial instruments, 
predominately forward and option contracts. These derivatives are used either to 
(a) hedge the Company's Swiss franc liabilities and are fair valued with the 
change in fair value reflected in earnings or (b) are documented as SFAS No. 133 
cash flow hedges, and the gains and losses on this latter hedging activity are 
first reflected in other comprehensive income, and then later classified to 
earnings. In both cases, the earnings impact is partially offset by the effects 
of currency movements on the underlying hedged transactions. If the Company did 
not engage in a hedging program, any change in the Swiss franc to local currency 
would have an equal effect on the Company's cost of sales. In addition, the 
Company hedges its Swiss franc payable exposure with forward contracts. As of 
January 31, 2004, the Company's entire net forward contracts hedging portfolio 
consisted of 150.0 million Swiss francs equivalent for various expiry dates 
ranging through December 30, 2004. The Company did not hold any Swiss franc 
option contracts related to cash flow hedges as of January 31, 2004. 
 
In November 2002, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the hedging of the 
Company's Swiss franc denominated investment in its wholly-owned Swiss 
subsidiaries using purchase options under certain limitations. These hedges are 
treated as net investment hedges under SFAS No. 133. As of January 31, 2004, the 
Company's purchased option hedge portfolio related to net investment hedging 
amounted to 50.0 million Swiss francs with various expiry dates ranging through 
September 27, 2006. 
 
Commodity Risk 
 
Additionally, the Company has a hedging program related to gold used in the 
manufacturing of the Company's watches. Under this hedging program, the Company 
purchases various commodity derivative instruments, primarily future contracts. 
These derivatives are documented as SFAS No. 133 cash flow hedges, and gains and 
losses on these derivative instruments are first reflected in other 
comprehensive income, and later reclassified to earnings, partially offset by 
the effects of gold market price changes on the underlying actual gold 
purchases. If the Company did not engage in a gold hedging program, any changes 
in the gold price would have an equal effect on the Company's cost of sales. The 
Company did not hold any future contracts in its gold hedge portfolio related to 
cash flow hedges as of January 31, 2004. 
 
Debt and Interest Rate Risk 
 
In addition, the Company has certain debt obligations with variable interest 
rates, which are based on LIBOR plus a fixed additional interest rate. The 
Company does not hedge these interest rate risks. The Company also has certain 
debt obligations with fixed interest rates. The differences between the market 
based interest rates at January 31, 2004, and the fixed rates were unfavorable. 
The Company believes that a 1% change in interest rates will affect the 
Company's net income by approximately $0.1 million, which is not material. 
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Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
 
                   INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
 
                                                                        Schedule                  Page 
                                                                         Number                  Number 
                                                                         ------                  ------ 
                                                                                         
Report of Independent Auditors                                                                    F-1 
 
Consolidated Statements of Income for the fiscal years ended 
January 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002                                                                   F-2 
 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at January 31, 2004 and 2003                                          F-3 
 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years 
      ended January 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002                                                       F-4 
 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity 
      for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002                                  F-5 
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements                                                    F-6 to F-23 
 
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves                             II                     S-1 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and 
        Financial Disclosure 
 
None. 
 
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 
 
The Company, under the supervision and with the participation of its management, 
including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, evaluated 
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's "disclosure 
controls and procedures" (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities 
Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that 
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective in 
making known to them, in a timely manner, material information relating to the 
Company and the Company's consolidated subsidiaries required to be disclosed in 
the Company's reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act. 
 
There has been no change in the Company's internal control over financial 
reporting during the quarter ended January 31, 2004, that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal 
control over financial reporting. 
 
It should be noted that while the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer believe that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures 
provide a reasonable level of assurance that they are effective, they do not 
expect that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures or internal control 
over financial reporting will prevent all errors and fraud. A control system, no 
matter how well conceived or operated, can provide only reasonable, not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. 
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                                    PART III 
 
Item 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 
 
The information required by this item is included in the Company's Proxy 
Statement for the 2004 annual meeting of shareholders under the captions 
"Election of Directors" and "Management" and is incorporated herein by 
reference. 
 
Information on the beneficial ownership reporting for the Company's directors 
and executive officers is contained in the Company's Proxy Statement for the 
2004 annual meeting of shareholders under the caption "Section 16(a) Beneficial 
Ownership Reporting Compliance" and is incorporated herein by reference. 
 
Information on the Company's Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial 
Expert is contained in the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2004 annual meeting 
of shareholders under the caption "Information Regarding the Board of Directors 
and Its Committees" and is incorporated herein by reference. 
 
The Company has adopted and will post on its website at www.movadogroupinc.com, 
prior to its 2004 annual meeting of shareholders, a Code of Business Conduct and 
Ethics that applies to all directors, officers and employees, including the 
Company's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and principal 
financial and accounting officers. The Company will post any amendments to the 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, and any waivers that are required to be 
disclosed by SEC regulations, on the Company's website. 
 
Item 11.  Executive Compensation 
 
The information required by this item is included in the Company's Proxy 
Statement for the 2004 annual meeting of shareholders under the captions 
"Executive Compensation" and "Compensation of Directors" and is incorporated 
herein by reference. 
 
Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 
 
The information required by this item is included in the Company's Proxy 
Statement for the 2004 annual meeting of shareholders under the caption 
"Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and is 
incorporated herein by reference. 
 
Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 
 
The information required by this item is included in the Company's Proxy 
Statement for the 2004 annual meeting of shareholders under the caption "Certain 
Relationships and Related Transactions" and is incorporated herein by reference. 
 
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 
 
The information required by this item is included in the Company's Proxy 
Statement for the 2004 annual meeting of shareholders under the captain "Fees 
Paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP" and is incorporated herein by reference. 
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                                     PART IV 
 
 
Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K 
 
(a)    Documents filed as part of this report 
       -------------------------------------- 
 
       1.  Financial Statements: 
 
           See Financial Statements Index on page 25 included in Item 8 of Part 
           II of this annual report. 
 
       2.  Financial Statement Schedule: 
 
           Schedule II                Valuation and Qualifying 
                                      Accounts and Reserves 
 
           All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or 
           not required, or because the required information is included in the 
           Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto. 
 
       3.  Exhibits: 
 
           Incorporated herein by reference is a list of the Exhibits contained 
           in the Exhibit Index on pages 31 through 36 of this annual report. 
 
(b)    Current Reports on Form 8-K 
       --------------------------- 
 
       The Company filed a report on Form 8-K (Item 7) on December 22, 2003 for 
       a press release, dated December 22, 2003, announcing the execution of an 
       agreement to acquire Ebel from LVMH Moet Hennessy Louis Vuitton. 
 
       The Company furnished a report on Form 8-K (Item 12) on December 2, 2003 
       for a press release, dated December 2, 2003, announcing financial results 
       for the quarter ended October 31, 2003. 
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                                   SIGNATURES 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 
                                                         MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
                                                            (Registrant) 
 
Dated:  April 15, 2004                  By: /s/ Gedalio Grinberg 
                                           ----------------------- 
                                           Gedalio Grinberg 
                                           Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report 
has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and 
in the capacities and on the date indicated: 
 
Dated:   April 15, 2004                    /s/ Gedalio Grinberg 
                                           ----------------------- 
                                           Gedalio Grinberg 
                                           Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
Dated:   April 15, 2004                    /s/ Efraim Grinberg 
                                           ----------------------- 
                                           Efraim Grinberg 
                                           President and Chief Executive Officer 
 
Dated:   April 15, 2004                    /s/ Richard J. Cote 
                                           ----------------------- 
                                           Richard J. Cote 
                                           Executive Vice President and 
                                           Chief Operating Officer 
 
Dated:   April 15, 2004                    /s/ Eugene J. Karpovich 
                                           ----------------------- 
                                           Eugene J. Karpovich 
                                           Senior Vice President and 
                                           Chief Financial Officer 
 
Dated:   April 15, 2004                    /s/ Margaret Hayes Adame 
                                           ------------------------ 
                                           Margaret Hayes Adame 
                                           Director 
 
Dated:   April 15, 2004                    /s/ Donald Oresman 
                                           ----------------------- 
                                           Donald Oresman 
                                           Director 
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Dated:   April 15, 2004                    /s/ Leonard L. Silverstein 
                                           ----------------------- 
                                           Leonard L. Silverstein 
                                           Director 
 
Dated:   April 15, 2004                    /s/ Alan H. Howard 
                                           ----------------------- 
                                           Alan H. Howard 
                                           Director 
 
Dated:   April 15, 2004                    /s/ Nathan Leventhal 
                                           ----------------------- 
                                           Nathan Leventhal 
                                           Director 
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                                  EXHIBIT INDEX 
 
Exhibit                                                            Sequentially 
Number                Description                                  Numbered Page 
- ------                -----------                                  ------------- 
3.1      Restated By-Laws of the Registrant. Incorporated by 
         reference to Exhibit 3.1 filed with the Company's 
         Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 
         33-666000). 
 
3.2      Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the 
         Registrant as amended. Incorporated herein by 
         reference to Exhibit 3(i) to the Registrant's 
         Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed for the quarter 
         ended July 31, 1999. 
 
4.1      Specimen Common Stock Certificate. Incorporated herein 
         by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Annual 
         Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 1998. 
 
4.2      Note Agreement, dated as of November 9, 1993, by and 
         between the Registrant and the Prudential Insurance 
         Company of America. Incorporated herein by reference 
         to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on 
         Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 31, 1993. 
 
4.3      Note Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement dated as of 
         November 30, 1998 between the Registrant and The 
         Prudential Insurance Company of America. Incorporated 
         herein by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the 
         Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
         ended January 31, 1999. 
 
4.4      Note Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement dated as of 
         March 21, 2001 between the Registrant and The 
         Prudential Insurance Company of America. Incorporated 
         herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant's 
         Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 
         31, 2001. * 
 
4.5      Amendment dated as of March 21, 2004 to Note Purchase 
         and Private Shelf Agreement dated as of March 21, 2001 
         between the Registrant and the Prudential Insurance 
         Company of America. 
 
10.1     Amendment Number 1 to License Agreement dated December 
         9, 1996 between Registrant as Licensee and Coach, a 
         division of Sara Lee Corporation as Licensor, dated as 
         of February 1, 1998. Incorporated herein by reference 
         to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly 
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Exhibit                                                            Sequentially 
Number                Description                                  Numbered Page 
- ------                -----------                                  ------------- 
         Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 31, 
         1998. 
 
10.2     Agreement, dated January 1, 1992, between The Hearst 
         Corporation and the Registrant, as amended on January 
         17, 1992. Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
         10.8 filed with the Company's Registration Statement 
         on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-666000). 
 
10.3     Letter Agreement between the Registrant and The Hearst 
         Corporation dated October 24, 1994 executed October 
         25, 1995 amending License Agreement dated as of 
         January 1, 1992, as amended. Incorporated herein by 
         reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Quarterly 
         Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 31, 
         1995. 
 
10.4     Registrant's 1996 Stock Incentive Plan amending and 
         restating the 1993 Employee Stock Option Plan. 
         Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to 
         Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
         quarter ended October 31, 1996.* 
 
10.5     Lease dated August 10, 1994 between Rockefeller Center 
         Properties, as landlord and SwissAm, Inc., as tenant 
         for space at 630 Fifth Avenue, New York, New York. 
         Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to 
         the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
         quarter ended July 31, 1994. 
 
10.6     Death and Disability Benefit Plan Agreement dated 
         September 23, 1994 between the Registrant and Gedalio 
         Grinberg. Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
         10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
         for the quarter ended October 31, 1994. * 
 
10.7     Registrant's amended and restated Deferred 
         Compensation Plan for Executives effective January 1, 
         1998. Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
         10.25 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K 
         for the year ended January 31, 1998. * 
 
10.8     License Agreement dated December 9, 1996 between the 
         Registrant and Sara Lee Corporation. Incorporated 
         herein by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the 
         Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
         ended January 31, 1997. 
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Exhibit                                                            Sequentially 
Number                Description                                  Numbered Page 
- ------                -----------                                  ------------- 
10.9     First Amendment to Lease dated April 8, 1998 between 
         RCPI Trust, successor in interest to Rockefeller 
         Center Properties ("Landlord") and Movado Retail 
         Group, Inc., successor in interest to SwissAm, Inc. 
         ("Tenant") amending lease dated August 10, 1994 
         between Landlord and Tenant for space at 630 Fifth 
         Avenue, New York, New York. Incorporated herein by 
         reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant's Annual 
         Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 
         1998. 
 
10.10    Second Amendment dated as of September 1, 1999 to the 
         December 1, 1996 License Agreement between Sara Lee 
         Corporation and Registrant. Incorporated herein by 
         reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's 
         Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
         October 31, 1999. 
 
10.11    License Agreement entered into as of June 3, 1999 
         between Tommy Hilfiger Licensing, Inc. and Registrant. 
         Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to 
         the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
         quarter ended October 31, 1999. 
 
10.12    Severance Agreement dated December 15, 1999, and 
         entered into December 16, 1999 between the Registrant 
         and Richard J. Cote. Incorporated herein by reference 
         to Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrant's Annual Report on 
         Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2000. * 
 
10.13    Lease made December 21, 2000 between the Registrant 
         and Mack-Cali Realty, L.P. for premises in Paramus, 
         New Jersey together with First Amendment thereto made 
         December 21, 2000. Incorporated herein by reference to 
         Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant's Annual Report on 
         Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2000. 
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Exhibit                                                            Sequentially 
Number                Description                                  Numbered Page 
- ------                -----------                                  ------------- 
10.14    Lease Agreement dated May 22, 2000 between Forsgate 
         Industrial Complex and the Registrant for premises 
         located at 105 State Street, Moonachie, New Jersey. 
         Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
         the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed 
         for the quarter ended April 30, 2000. 
 
10.15    Second Amendment of Lease dated July 26, 2001 between 
         Mack-Cali Reality, L.P., as landlord, and Movado 
         Group, Inc., as tenant, further amending lease dated 
         as of December 21, 2000. Incorporated herein by 
         reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's 
         Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed for the quarter 
         ended October 31, 2001. 
 
10.16    Third Amendment of Lease dated November 6, 2001 
         between Mack-Cali Realty, L.P., as lessor and Movado 
         Group, Inc., as lessee, for additional space at 
         Mack-Cali II, One Mack Drive, Paramus, NJ. 
         Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to 
         the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed 
         for the quarter ended October 31, 2001. 
 
10.17    Amendment Number 2 to Registrant's 1996 Stock 
         Incentive Plan dated March 16, 2001. Incorporated 
         herein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the 
         Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
         ended January 31, 2002.* 
 
10.18    Amendment Number 3 to Registrant's 1996 Stock 
         Incentive Plan approved June 19, 2001. Incorporated 
         herein by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the 
         Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
         ended January 31, 2002. * 
 
10.19    Amendment Number 3 to License Agreement dated December 
         9, 1996, as previously amended, between the 
         Registrant, Movado Watch Company S.A. and Coach, Inc. 
         dated as of January 30, 2003. Incorporated herein by 
         reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrant's Annual 
         Report on Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2002. 
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Number                Description                                  Numbered Page 
- ------                -----------                                  ------------- 
10.20    Amended and Restated Master Promissory Note Agreement 
         dated June 21, 2001 between the Registrant and Fleet 
         National Bank. Incorporated herein by reference to 
         Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant's Annual Report on 
         Form 10-K for the year ended January 31, 2002. 
 
10.21    Line of Credit Letter Agreement dated August 20, 2001 
         between the Registrant and The Bank of New York. 
         Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to 
         the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
         year ended January 31, 2002. 
 
10.22    First Amendment to the License Agreement dated June 3, 
         1999 between Tommy Hilfiger Licensing, Inc., 
         Registrant and Movado Watch Company S.A. entered into 
         January 16, 2002. Incorporated herein by reference to 
         Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on 
         Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2002. 
 
10.23    Second Amendment to the License Agreement dated June 
         3, 1999 between Tommy Hilfiger Licensing, Inc., 
         Registrant and Movado Watch Company S.A. entered into 
         August 1, 2002. Incorporated herein by reference to 
         Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on 
         Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 31, 2002. 
 
10.24    Amendment dated June 17, 2003 to Line of Credit 
         Agreement between the Registrant and the Bank of New 
         York dated August 20, 2001. Incorporated herein by 
         reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's 
         Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
         July 31, 2003. 
 
10.25    Line of Credit Letter Agreement dated June 24, 2003 
         between the Registrant and Fleet National Bank, as 
         amended July 28, 2003. Incorporated herein by 
         reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's 
         Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
         July 31, 2003. 
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10.26    Endorsement Agreement dated as of April 4, 2003 
         between the Registrant and The Grinberg Family Trust. 
         Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to 
         the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
         year ended January 31, 2003. 
 
10.27    Revolving Credit Agreement dated June 17, 2003 between 
         the Registrant, Concord Watch Company S.A., Movado 
         Watch Company S.A., the Lenders signatory thereto and 
         JP Morgan Chase Bank as Administrative Agent, 
         Swingline Bank and Issuing Bank. Incorporated herein 
         by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's 
         quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
         July 30, 2003. 
 
10.28    Waiver and Amendment dated as of February 27, 2004 
         among the Registrant, Concord Watch Company S.A., 
         Movado Watch Company S.A., each of the Lenders 
         signatory to the Credit Agreement and JP Morgan Chase 
         Bank as Administrative Agent, Swingline Bank and 
 
10.29    Fifth Amendment of Lease dated October 20, 2003 between 
         Mack-Cali Realty, L.P. as landlord and the Registrant 
         as tenant further amending the lease dated as of 
         December 21, 2000. 
 
21.1     Subsidiaries of the Registrant 
 
23.2     Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
 
31.1     Certification of Principal Executive Officer 
 
31.2     Certification of Principal Financial Officer 
 
32.1     Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
         adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
         Act of 2002. 
 
32.2     Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
         adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
         Act of 2002. 
 
* Constitutes a compensatory plan or arrangement. 
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                 REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
                 ------------------------------ 
 
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Movado Group, Inc.: 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index 
appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Movado Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries at January 31, 
2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended January 31, 2004 in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In 
addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the index 
appearing under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the 
information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related 
consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and the financial 
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management; our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and the 
financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of 
these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Florham Park, New Jersey 
March 10, 2004 
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                       MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
               CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
            (in thousands, except per share amounts) 
 
 
 
                                                            Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 
                                                        ---------------------------------- 
                                                           2004         2003        2002 
                                                        ---------    ---------   --------- 
                                                                         
Net sales                                               $ 330,214    $ 300,077   $ 299,725 
                                                        ---------    ---------   --------- 
 
Costs and expenses: 
       Cost of sales                                      129,908      115,907     115,653 
       Selling, general and administrative                165,525      152,394     157,799 
                                                        ---------    ---------   --------- 
 
Total costs and expenses                                  295,433      268,301     273,452 
                                                        ---------    ---------   --------- 
 
Operating income                                           34,781       31,776      26,273 
 
Interest expense, net                                       3,044        3,916       5,415 
                                                        ---------    ---------   --------- 
 
Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of a 
change in accounting principle                             31,737       27,860      20,858 
 
Provision for income taxes                                  8,886        7,801       3,735 
                                                        ---------    ---------   --------- 
 
Income before cumulative effect of a change in 
accounting principle                                       22,851       20,059      17,123 
 
Cumulative effect of  a change in accounting 
principle, net of a tax benefit of $42                         --           --        (109) 
                                                        ---------    ---------   --------- 
 
Net income                                              $  22,851    $  20,059   $  17,014 
                                                        =========    =========   ========= 
 
Basic income per share 
     Income before cumulative effect of a change in 
     accounting principle                               $    1.90    $    1.69   $    1.47 
     Cumulative effect of a change in  accounting 
     principle                                                 --           --       (0.01) 
                                                        ---------    ---------   --------- 
Net income per share                                    $    1.90    $    1.69   $    1.46 
                                                        =========    =========   ========= 
Weighted basic average shares outstanding                  12,050       11,870      11,683 
                                                        =========    =========   ========= 
Diluted income per share 
     Income before cumulative effect of a change in 
     accounting principle                               $    1.84    $    1.65   $    1.43 
     Cumulative effect of a change in accounting 
     principle                                                 --           --       (0.01) 
                                                        ---------    ---------   --------- 
Net income per share                                    $    1.84    $    1.65   $    1.42 
                                                        =========    =========   ========= 
Weighted diluted average shares outstanding                12,439       12,190      12,007 
                                                        =========    =========   ========= 
 
 
         See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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                       MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
                  CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
       (in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
 
 
 
                                                                           January 31, 
                                                                    ---------------------- 
                                                                       2004         2003 
                                                                    ---------    --------- 
                                                                            
ASSETS 
Current assets: 
        Cash                                                        $  82,083    $  38,365 
        Trade receivables, net                                         88,800       94,438 
        Inventories, net                                              121,678      111,736 
        Other                                                          27,932       36,646 
                                                                    ---------    --------- 
            Total current assets                                      320,493      281,185 
 
Property, plant and equipment, net                                     42,112       39,939 
Other assets                                                           28,362       24,030 
                                                                    ---------    --------- 
 
            Total assets                                            $ 390,967    $ 345,154 
                                                                    =========    ========= 
 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 
        Current portion of long-term debt                           $  10,000    $      -- 
        Accounts payable                                               23,631       22,712 
        Accrued payroll and benefits                                    8,033        6,010 
        Accrued liabilities                                            17,748       16,725 
        Current taxes payable                                          12,150       11,467 
        Deferred income taxes                                           5,961        4,851 
                                                                    ---------    --------- 
            Total current liabilities                                  77,523       61,765 
 
Long-term debt                                                         25,000       35,000 
Deferred and noncurrent income taxes                                    2,282        4,229 
Other liabilities                                                      11,449        7,948 
                                                                    ---------    --------- 
            Total liabilities                                         116,254      108,942 
                                                                    ---------    --------- 
 
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 10 and 16) 
 
Shareholders' equity: 
        Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value, 5,000,000 shares 
            authorized; no shares issued                                   --           -- 
        Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 20,000,000 shares 
            authorized; 10,861,631 and 10,057,367 shares issued, 
            respectively                                                  109          101 
        Class A Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares 
            authorized; 3,400,906 and 3,428,277 shares issued and 
            outstanding, respectively                                      34           34 
        Capital in excess of par value                                 89,491       72,145 
        Retained earnings                                             192,601      172,287 
        Accumulated other comprehensive income                         34,473       19,386 
        Treasury Stock, 2,040,591 and 1,547,156 shares at cost, 
        respectively                                                  (41,995)     (27,741) 
                                                                    ---------    --------- 
            Total shareholders' equity                                274,713      236,212 
                                                                    ---------    --------- 
 
 
            Total liabilities and shareholders' equity              $ 390,967    $ 345,154 
                                                                    =========    ========= 
 
 
         See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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                       MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
             CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
                         (in thousands) 
 
 
                                                                         Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 
                                                                       -------------------------------- 
                                                                         2004        2003        2002 
                                                                       --------    --------    -------- 
                                                                                       
Cash flows from operating activities: 
    Net income                                                         $ 22,851    $ 20,059    $ 17,014 
    Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 
    operating activities: 
            Depreciation and amortization                                 9,973       8,369       7,550 
            Deferred and noncurrent income taxes                            188        (294)     (1,859) 
            Provision for losses on accounts receivable                   2,290       1,987       1,384 
            Provision for inventories                                       993         830         756 
            Loss on disposition of leasehold improvements, furniture 
                and fixtures                                                109          --         492 
            Tax benefit from stock options exercised                      2,511         489         685 
 
    Changes in current assets and liabilities: 
            Trade receivables                                             4,583      (2,602)      4,185 
            Inventories                                                  (6,248)     (4,815)     (5,372) 
            Other current assets                                         12,179      14,236          64 
            Accounts payable                                                160      (2,989)     (4,443) 
            Accrued liabilities                                             987      (2,734)     (2,177) 
            Accrued payroll and benefits                                  2,023        (811)       (198) 
            Deferred and current taxes payable                              543       2,465      (3,051) 
            Other noncurrent assets                                      (4,997)       (248)     (6,234) 
            Other noncurrent liabilities                                  3,502        (636)      7,750 
                                                                       --------    --------    -------- 
               Net cash provided by operating activities                 51,647      33,306      16,546 
                                                                       --------    --------    -------- 
 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
            Capital expenditures                                        (10,830)     (6,525)    (13,902) 
            Trademarks                                                     (653)       (514)       (807) 
                                                                       --------    --------    -------- 
               Net cash used in investing activities                    (11,483)     (7,039)    (14,709) 
                                                                       --------    --------    -------- 
 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
            Repayment of Senior Notes                                        --      (5,000)     (5,000) 
            Net payment of current bank borrowings                           --      (6,500)     (2,300) 
            Stock options exercised and other changes                       589       2,037       1,780 
            Dividends paid                                               (2,537)     (1,602)     (1,360) 
                                                                       --------    --------    -------- 
               Net cash used in financing activities                     (1,948)    (11,065)     (6,880) 
                                                                       --------    --------    -------- 
 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents              5,502       6,192      (1,045) 
                                                                       --------    --------    -------- 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                     43,718      21,394      (6,088) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year                           38,365      16,971      23,059 
                                                                       --------    --------    -------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year                               $ 82,083    $ 38,365    $ 16,971 
                                                                       ========    ========    ======== 
 
 
         See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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                       MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
   CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
            (in thousands, except per share amounts) 
 
 
 
                                                                                                       Accumulated 
                                                                                                          Other 
                                                                                                         Compre- 
                                                                      Class A   Capital in               hensive 
                                            Preferred     Common      Common    Excess of   Retained     Income      Treasury 
                                              Stock       Stock       Stock     Par Value   Earnings     (Loss)       Stock 
                                             --------    --------    --------   ---------   --------     --------    -------- 
                                                                                                 
Balance, January 31, 2001                    $     --    $     96    $     35    $ 67,242   $138,176     ($18,169)   ($27,910) 
    Net income                                                                                17,014 
    Dividends ($0.12 per share)                                                               (1,360) 
    Stock options exercised, net of tax 
        of $685                                                 2                   1,863 
    Employee stock bonus plan                                                                                             219 
    Supplemental executive retirement plan                                            379 
    Accounting change, net of tax of $143                                                                     367 
    Net unrealized gain on investments, 
        net of tax of $77                                                                                     199 
    Net change in effective portion of 
        hedging contracts, net of tax 
        of $99                                                                                               (449) 
    Foreign currency translation adjustment                                                                (5,234) 
                                             --------    --------    --------    --------   --------     --------    -------- 
  Balance, January 31, 2002                  $     --    $     98    $     35    $ 69,484   $153,830     ($23,286)   ($27,691) 
    Net income                                                                                20,059 
    Dividends ($0.12 per share)                                                               (1,602) 
    Stock options exercised, net of tax 
        of $489                                                 2                   2,631                                (135) 
    Employee stock bonus plan                                                                                              85 
    Supplemental executive retirement plan                                             30 
    Net unrealized loss on investments, 
        net of tax of $25                                                                                     (82) 
   Net change in effective portion of 
        hedging contracts, net of tax 
        of $2,709                                                                                           4,584 
    Foreign currency translation adjustment                                                                38,170 
    Conversion of Class A Common Stock 
        to Common Stock                                         1          (1) 
                                             --------    --------    --------    --------   --------     --------    -------- 
Balance, January 31, 2003                    $     --    $    101    $     34    $ 72,145   $172,287     $ 19,386    ($27,741) 
    Net income                                                                                22,851 
    Dividends ($0.21 per share)                                                               (2,537) 
    Stock options exercised, net of tax 
        of $2,511                                               8                  16,861                             (14,254) 
    Supplemental executive retirement plan                                            170 
    Restricted stock amortization less 
        cancellations                                                                 315 
    Net unrealized gain on investments, 
        net of tax of $89                                                                                     139 
    Net change in effective portion of 
        hedging contracts, net of tax 
        of $2,212                                                                                          (3,434) 
    Foreign currency translation adjustment                                                                18,382 
                                             --------    --------    --------    --------   --------     --------    -------- 
Balance, January 31, 2004                    $     --    $    109    $     34    $ 89,491   $192,601     $ 34,473    ($41,995) 
                                             ========    ========    ========    ========   ========     ========    ======== 
 
 
         See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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NOTES TO MOVADO GROUP INC.'S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Organization and Business 
 
Movado Group, Inc. (the "Company") is a designer, manufacturer and distributor 
of quality watches with prominent brands in almost every price category 
comprising the watch industry. In fiscal 2004, the Company marketed five 
distinctive brands of watches: Movado, Concord, ESQ, Coach and Tommy Hilfiger, 
which compete in most segments of the watch market. 
 
The Company designs, manufactures and contracts for the assembly of Movado and 
Concord watches primarily in Switzerland for sale throughout the world. ESQ and 
Tommy Hilfiger watches are manufactured to the Company's specifications by 
independent contractors located in Asia. ESQ watches are presently sold 
primarily in North America and the Caribbean. Tommy Hilfiger watches are 
presently sold throughout the world. Coach watches are assembled in Switzerland 
by independent contractors and sold primarily in North America, the Caribbean 
and Asia. 
 
In addition to its sales to trade customers and independent distributors, 
through a wholly-owned domestic subsidiary, the Company sells Movado watches, as 
well as proprietary Movado jewelry, tabletop and accessories directly to 
consumers in its Movado Boutiques. Additionally, the Company operates a number 
of outlet stores throughout the United States, through which it sells 
discontinued and second merchandise. 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and 
its subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. 
 
Translation of Foreign Currency Financial Statements and 
Foreign Currency Transactions 
 
The financial statements of the Company's international subsidiaries have been 
translated into United States dollars by translating balance sheet accounts at 
year-end exchange rates and statement of operations accounts at average exchange 
rates for the year. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are charged or 
credited to income as incurred. Foreign currency translation gains and losses 
are reflected in the equity section of the Company's consolidated balance sheet 
in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash equivalents are considered all highly liquid investments with original 
maturities at date of purchase of three months or less. 
 
Trade Receivables 
 
The Company's trade customers include department stores, jewelry store chains 
and independent jewelers. Movado, Concord and Tommy Hilfiger watches are also 
marketed outside the U.S. through a network of independent distributors. 
Accounts receivable are stated net of allowances for doubtful accounts, 
estimated 
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returns and sales and cash discounts of $26.0 million and $22.2 million at 
January 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company's concentrations of credit 
risk arise primarily from accounts receivable related to trade customers during 
the peak selling seasons. The Company has significant accounts receivable 
balances due from major department store chains. The Company's results of 
operations could be materially adversely affected in the event any of these 
customers or a group of these customers defaulted on all or a significant 
portion of their obligations to the Company as a result of financial 
difficulties. As of January 31, 2004, there were no known situations with any of 
the Company's major customers which indicate the customer's inability to make 
the required payments. 
 
Inventories 
 
The Company values its inventory at the lower of cost or market using the 
first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods and component 
inventories, held by overseas subsidiaries, are determined using average cost. 
The Company's management regularly reviews its sales to customers and customers' 
sell-through at retail to determine excess or obsolete inventory reserves. 
Inventory with less than acceptable turn rates is classified as discontinued 
and, together with the related component parts which can be assembled into 
saleable finished goods, is sold through the Company's outlet stores. When 
management determines that finished product and components are unsaleable in the 
Company's outlet stores, a reserve is established for the cost of those products 
and components. These estimates could vary significantly, either favorably or 
unfavorably, from actual requirements depending on future economic conditions, 
customer inventory levels or competitive conditions which may differ from 
expectations. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Depreciation of furniture and equipment is provided using the straight-line 
method based on the estimated useful lives of assets, which range from three to 
ten years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method 
over the lesser of the term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the 
leasehold improvement. Upon the disposition of property, plant and equipment, 
the accumulated depreciation is deducted from the original cost and any gain or 
loss is reflected in current earnings. 
 
Long-Lived Assets 
 
The Company establishes the estimated useful lives of its depreciable assets 
based on factors including historical experience, the expected beneficial 
service period of the asset, the quality and durability of the asset and the 
Company's maintenance policy including periodic upgrades. Changes in useful 
lives are made on a prospective basis unless factors indicate the carrying 
amounts of the assets may not be recoverable and an impairment write-down is 
necessary. 
 
The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate, in management's judgment, that the carrying value of 
such assets may not be recoverable. When such a determination has been made, 
management compares the carrying value of the assets with their estimated future 
undiscounted cash flows. If it is determined that an impairment loss has 
occurred, the loss is recognized during that period. The impairment loss is 
calculated as the difference between asset carrying values and the present value 
of estimated net cash flows or comparable market values, giving consideration to 
recent operating 
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performance and pricing trends. In fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, there were no 
impairment losses related to long-lived assets. 
 
Capitalized Software Costs 
 
The Company capitalizes certain computer software costs after technological 
feasibility has been established. The costs are amortized utilizing the 
straight-line method over the economic lives of the related products ranging 
from three to seven years. 
 
Intangibles 
 
Intangible assets consist primarily of trademarks and are recorded at cost. 
Trademarks are generally amortized over ten years. The Company continually 
reviews intangible assets to evaluate whether events or changes have occurred 
that would suggest an impairment of carrying value. An impairment would be 
recognized when expected undiscounted future operating cash flows are lower than 
the carrying value. At January 31, 2004 and 2003, intangible assets at cost were 
$7.5 million and $6.9 million, respectively, and related accumulated 
amortization of intangibles was $3.5 million and $3.0 million, respectively. 
Amortization expense for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $0.7 million, $0.6 
million and $0.5 million, respectively. 
 
Derivative Instruments 
 
The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to reduce foreign currency 
fluctuation risks. The Company accounts for its derivative financial instruments 
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 133, 
"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," which was 
amended by SFAS No. 137 and SFAS No. 138. SFAS No. 133, as amended, establishes 
accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments and hedging 
activities. They require that an entity recognize all derivatives as either 
assets or liabilities in the statement of financial condition and measure those 
instruments at fair value. Changes in the fair value of those instruments will 
be reported in earnings or other comprehensive income depending on the use of 
the derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. The accounting for 
gains and losses associated with changes in the fair value of the derivative and 
the effect on the consolidated financial statements will depend on its hedge 
designation and whether the hedge is highly effective in achieving offsetting 
changes in the fair value of cash flows of the asset or liability hedged. 
 
The Company's risk management policy is to enter into forward exchange contracts 
and purchase foreign currency options, under certain limitations, to reduce 
exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and, to a lesser 
extent, in commodity prices related to its purchases of watches. When entered 
into, the Company designates and documents these derivative instruments as a 
cash flow hedge of a specific underlying exposure, as well as the risk 
management objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge transactions. 
Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is designated and documented as a 
cash flow hedge and is highly effective, are recorded in other comprehensive 
income until the underlying transaction effects earnings, and then are later 
reclassified to earnings in the same account as the hedged transaction. The 
Company formally assesses, both at the inception and at each financial quarter 
thereafter, the effectiveness of the derivative instrument hedging the 
underlying forecasted cash flow transaction which is being hedged. Any 
ineffectiveness related to the derivative financial instruments' change in fair 
value will be recognized in the period in which the ineffectiveness was 
calculated. 
 
The Company uses forward exchange contracts to offset its exposure to certain 
foreign currency liabilities. These forward contracts are not designated as SFAS 
No. 133 hedges and, therefore, changes in the fair value of 
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these derivatives are recognized in earnings, thereby offsetting the current 
earnings effect of the related foreign currency liabilities.During fiscal 2003, 
the Company's risk management policy was modified to include net investment 
hedging of the Company's Swiss franc-denominated investment in its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries located in Switzerland using purchase foreign currency options 
under certain limitations. When entered into for this purpose, the Company 
designates and documents the derivative instrument as a net investment hedge of 
a specific underlying exposure, as well as the risk management objectives and 
strategies for undertaking the hedge transactions. Changes in the fair value of 
a derivative that is designated and documented as a net investment hedge are 
recorded in other comprehensive income in the same manner as the cumulative 
translation adjustment of the Company's Swiss franc-denominated investment. The 
Company formally assesses, both at the inception and at each financial quarter 
thereafter, the effectiveness of the derivative instrument hedging the net 
investment. 
 
All of the Company's derivative instruments have liquid markets to assess fair 
value. The Company does not enter into any derivative instruments for trading 
purposes. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
The Company recognizes its revenue upon transfer of title and risk of loss or, 
in the case of retail sales, at the time of register receipt. The Company 
records estimates for returns and sales and cash discount allowances in the same 
period the revenue is recorded. These estimates are based upon historical 
analysis, customer agreements and/or currently known factors that arise in the 
normal course of business. 
 
Preopening Costs 
 
Costs associated with the opening of new boutique and outlet stores are expensed 
in the period incurred. 
 
Advertising 
 
The Company expenses the production costs of an advertising campaign at the 
commencement date of the advertising campaign. Advertising expense for fiscal 
2004, 2003 and 2002 amounted to $53.1 million, $50.5 million and $56.9 million, 
respectively. 
 
Shipping and Handling Costs 
 
Amounts charged to customers and costs incurred by the Company related to 
shipping and handling are included in net sales and cost of goods sold, 
respectively. 
 
Warranty Costs 
 
The Company has warranty obligations in connection with the sale of its watches. 
The Company's products are covered by limited warranties against defects in 
materials and workmanship for periods ranging from two to ten years from the 
date of purchase for movements and up to five years for the gold plating on 
Movado watch casings and bracelets. The costs incurred to provide for these 
warranty obligations are estimated and recorded as an accrued liability based on 
historical failure rates and related costs to repair. As of January 31, 2004 and 
2003, the reserve balances for warranty costs were $0.9 million for each year. 
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Income Taxes 
 
The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, 
"Accounting for Income Taxes" ("SFAS No. 109"). Under the asset and liability 
method of SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for 
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
enacted tax laws and tax rates, in each jurisdiction the Company operates, and 
applies to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities due to a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period 
that includes the enactment date. In addition, the amounts of any future tax 
benefits are reduced by a valuation allowance to the extent such benefits are 
not expected to be realized on a more-likely-than-not basis. The Company 
calculates estimated income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which it 
operates. This process involves estimating actual current tax expense along with 
assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for 
both book and tax purposes. 
 
Earnings Per Share 
 
The Company presents net income per share on a basic and diluted basis. Basic 
earnings per share is computed using weighted average shares outstanding during 
the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding adjusted for dilutive common stock equivalents. 
 
The weighted average number of shares outstanding for basic earnings per share 
were 12,050,000, 11,870,000 and 11,683,000 for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. For diluted earnings per share, these amounts were increased by 
389,000, 320,000 and 324,000 in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, due to 
potentially dilutive common stock equivalents issuable under the Company's stock 
option plans. 
 
Stock-based Compensation 
 
Employee stock options are accounted for under the intrinsic value method, which 
measures compensation cost as the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of 
the stock at grant date over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the 
stock. Accordingly, compensation expense has not been recognized for stock 
options granted at or above fair value. Had compensation expense been determined 
and recorded based upon the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, 
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," net income and net income per share 
would have been reduced to pro forma amounts as follows: 
 
 
 
 
                                                       2004                          2003                        2002 
                                                       ----                          ----                        ---- 
                                                 As           Pro             As            Pro            As            Pro 
                                              Reported       Forma         Reported        Forma        Reported        Forma 
                                              --------       -----         --------        -----        --------        ----- 
                                                                                                       
Net Income                                     $22,851       $18,768         $20,059       $16,439        $17,014       $14,249 
Net Income per share-Basic                       $1.90         $1.56           $1.69         $1.38          $1.46         $1.22 
Net Income per share-Diluted                     $1.84         $1.51           $1.65         $1.35          $1.42         $1.19 
 
 
The weighted-average fair value of each option grant estimated on the date of 
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is $11.78, $9.71 and $7.74 
per share in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The following 
weighted-average assumptions were used for grants in 2004, 2003 and 2002: 
dividend yield of 0.87% for 
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fiscal 2004, 0.62% for fiscal 2003 and 0.71% for fiscal 2002; expected 
volatility of 52% for fiscal 2004, 46% for fiscal 2003 and 50% for fiscal 2002; 
risk-free interest rates of 3.04% for fiscal 2004, 5.23% for fiscal 2003 and 
4.81% for fiscal 2002 and expected lives of four to seven years for fiscal 2004, 
and seven years for each fiscal year of 2003 and 2002. 
 
Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Stockholders' Equity 
 
Under a series of share repurchase authorizations approved by the Board of 
Directors, the Company has maintained a discretionary buy-back program 
throughout fiscal 2004. There were no shares repurchased under the repurchase 
program during fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003. As of January 31, 2004, the Company 
had authorization to repurchase shares up to an additional $4.5 million against 
an aggregate authorization of $30.0 million. 
 
Recently Issued Accounting Standards 
 
In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, "Amendment of Statement 133 on 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." SFAS No. 149 amends and 
clarifies accounting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative 
instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS 
No. 133. In particular, SFAS No. 149 clarifies under what circumstances a 
contract with an initial net investment meets the characteristic of a derivative 
and when a derivative contains a financing component that warrants special 
reporting in the statement of cash flows. SFAS No. 149 is generally effective 
for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 
No. 149 did not have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
 
In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, "Accounting for Certain Financial 
Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity." SFAS No. 150 
requires certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and 
have characteristics of both liabilities and equity to be classified as 
liabilities (or an asset in some circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effective for 
financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise 
is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 
15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have an impact on the Company's 
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows as the 
Company did not currently have any such instruments. 
 
In January 2003, FASB Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), "Consolidation of Variable 
Interest Entities" was issued. FIN 46 provides guidance on consolidating 
variable interest entities and applies immediately to variable interests created 
after January 31, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB revised and superceded FIN 46 
with the issuance of FIN 46R in order to address certain implementation issues 
which will be adopted in the first reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. 
The interpretation requires variable interest entities to be consolidated if the 
equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit an entity to finance its 
activities without 
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support from other parties or the equity investors lack certain specified 
characteristics. The adoption of FIN 46 did not have an impact on the Company's 
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
 
In December 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting 
Bulletin No. 104 (SAB 104), Revenue Recognition. SAB 104 supercedes SAB 101, 
Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements to include the guidance from 
Emerging Issues Task Force EITF 00-21 "Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with 
Multiple Deliverables." The adoption of SAB 104 does not have an impact on the 
Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
 
Reclassification 
 
Certain reclassifications were made to prior years' financial statement amounts 
and related note disclosures to conform to the fiscal 2004 presentation. 
 
NOTE 2 - INVENTORIES 
 
Inventories at January 31, consisted of the following (in thousands): 
 
                                                   2004            2003 
                                                ---------       --------- 
 
      Finished goods                            $  78,490       $  73,148 
      Component parts                              43,335          40,649 
      Work-in-process                               2,261           2,262 
                                                ---------       --------- 
                                                  124,086         116,059 
      Less: inventories reserve                    (2,408)         (4,323) 
                                                ---------       --------- 
                                                $ 121,678       $ 111,736 
                                                =========       ========= 
 
NOTE 3 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property, plant and equipment at January 31, at cost, consisted of the following 
(in thousands): 
 
                                                      2004          2003 
                                                   --------      -------- 
 
      Furniture and equipment                      $ 37,234      $ 31,393 
      Computer software                              26,333        24,338 
      Leasehold improvements                         25,405        21,420 
                                                   --------      -------- 
                                                     88,972        77,151 
      Less: accumulated depreciation                (46,860)      (37,212) 
                                                   --------      -------- 
                                                   $ 42,112      $ 39,939 
                                                   ========      ======== 
 
Depreciation and amortization expense for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $10.0 
million, $7.6 million and $6.8 million, respectively, which includes computer 
software amortization expense for fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002 of $2.9 million, 
$3.0 million and $2.6 million, respectively. 
 
NOTE 4 - BANK CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS AND LINES OF CREDIT 
 
The Company's revolving credit facility with its domestic bank group was amended 
in June 2003 to provide for a three year $75.0 million unsecured revolving line 
of credit. The line of credit expires on June 17, 2006. In 
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addition, certain members within the bank group provided for $15.0 million of 
uncommitted working capital lines of credit at January 31, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively. As of January 31, 2004, one bank in the domestic bank group issued 
five irrevocable standby letters of credit for retail and operating facility 
leases to various landlords and Canadian payroll to the Royal Bank of Canada 
totaling $0.6 million with expiry dates through May 19, 2005. The Company pays a 
facility fee on the unused portion of the credit facility. The agreement also 
contains certain financial covenants including an interest coverage ratio, and 
certain restrictions that limit the Company on the sale, transfer or 
distribution of corporate assets, including dividends, and limit the amount of 
debt outstanding. The Company was in compliance with these restrictions and 
covenants at January 31, 2004 and 2003. The domestic unused line of credit was 
$90.0 million and $115.0 million at January 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 
 
A Swiss subsidiary of the Company maintains unsecured lines of credit with an 
unspecified length of time with a Swiss bank. Available credit under these lines 
totaled 8.8 million Swiss francs at both January 31, 2004 and 2003, with dollar 
equivalents of approximately $7.0 million and $6.5 million, respectively, of 
which a maximum of $5.0 million can be drawn. As of January 31, 2004, the Swiss 
bank has made guarantees to certain Swiss third party obligations of 
approximately 0.9 million Swiss francs. There are no restrictions on transfers 
in the form of dividends, loans or advances to the Company by its foreign 
subsidiaries. 
 
There were no outstanding borrowings against the Company's aggregate demand 
lines of credit at January 31, 2004 and January 31, 2003, respectively. 
Aggregate maximum and average monthly outstanding borrowings against the 
Company's lines of credit and related weighted average interest rates during 
fiscal 2004 and 2003 were as follows (dollars in thousands): 
 
                                                Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 
                                                ----------------------------- 
                                                      2004          2003 
                                                    -------       ------- 
      Maximum borrowings                            $31,000       $38,425 
      Average monthly borrowings                    $15,532       $27,958 
      Weighted average interest rate                   2.1%          2.8% 
 
Weighted average interest rates were computed based on average month-end 
outstanding borrowings and applicable average month-end interest rates. 
 
NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The components of long-term debt as of January 31 were as follows (in 
thousands): 
 
                                                     2004            2003 
                                                   -------         ------- 
      Senior Notes                                 $10,000         $10,000 
      Series A Senior Notes                         25,000          25,000 
                                                   -------         ------- 
                                                    35,000          35,000 
      Less: current portion                         10,000              -- 
                                                   -------         ------- 
      Long-term debt                               $25,000         $35,000 
                                                   =======         ======= 
 
Senior Notes due January 31, 2005 (the "Senior Notes") were issued in a private 
placement completed in fiscal 1994 and bear interest at 6.56% per annum, payable 
semiannually on July 31 and January 31, and are subject to 
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annual payments of $5.0 million commencing January 31, 1998. At January 31, 
2004, $10.0 million in principal amount of these notes remained outstanding, of 
which $5.0 million was paid on February 2, 2004, with the remaining $5.0 million 
to be paid on January 31, 2005. The Company has the option to prepay amounts due 
to holders of the Senior Notes at 100% of the principal plus a "make-whole" 
premium and accrued interest. 
 
The Series A Senior Notes ("Series A Senior Notes") were issued on December 1, 
1998 under a Note Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement and bear interest at 
6.90% per annum. Interest is payable semiannually on April 30 and October 30. 
These notes mature on October 30, 2010 and are subject to annual payments of 
$5.0 million commencing on October 31, 2006. 
 
On March 21, 2004, the Company amended its Note Purchase and Private Shelf 
Agreement, originally dated March 21, 2001, to expire on March 21, 2007. This 
agreement allows for the issuance, for up to three years after the date thereof, 
of senior promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of up to $40.0 
million with maturities up to 12 years from their original date of issuance. As 
of January 31, 2004 and 2003, there were no amounts outstanding under the 
agreement. 
 
The agreements governing the Senior Notes and Series A Senior Notes contain 
certain restrictions and covenants which generally require the maintenance of a 
minimum net worth, limit the amount of additional secured debt the Company can 
incur and limit the sale, transfer or distribution of corporate assets, 
including dividends. The Company was in compliance with these restrictions and 
covenants at January 31, 2004 and 2003. 
 
NOTE 6 - DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS 
 
The Company follows the provisions of SFAS No. 133 requiring that all derivative 
instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. 
 
As of January 31, 2004, the balance of deferred net gains on derivative 
instruments documented as cash flow hedges included in accumulated other 
comprehensive income ("AOCI") was $1.6 million, net of tax of $1.0 million, 
compared to $4.5 million in net gains at January 31, 2003, net of tax of $2.9 
million and $0.4 million in net loss at January 31, 2002, net of a tax benefit 
of $0.1 million. The Company estimates that a substantial portion of the 
deferred net gains at January 31, 2004 will be realized into earnings over the 
next 12 months as a result of transactions that are expected to occur over that 
period. The primary underlying transaction which will cause the amount in AOCI 
to affect cost of goods sold consists of the Company's sell through of inventory 
purchased predominantly in Swiss francs. The maximum length of time the Company 
is hedging its exposure to the fluctuation in future cash flows for forecasted 
transactions is 24 months. For the years ended January 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
the Company reclassified net gains from AOCI to earnings of approximately $3.2 
million, net of tax of $2.0 million, $1.7 million, net of tax of $1.0 million, 
and $0.6 million, net of tax of $0.4 million, respectively. 
 
During fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company recorded no charge related to its 
assessment of the effectiveness of its derivative hedge portfolio. However, the 
Company incurred a $0.2 million loss, net of a tax benefit of $0.1 million, for 
the amounts excluded in the assessment of the derivative hedge portfolio 
effectiveness for each of fiscal years 2004 and 2003, and $2.2 million loss, net 
of a tax benefit of $0.5 million in fiscal 2002. The Company records these 
transactions in the cost of sales of the consolidated statements of income. 
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The balance of the net loss included in the cumulative foreign currency 
translation adjustment associated with derivatives documented as net investment 
hedges was $1.0 million, net of a tax benefit of $0.6 million as of January 31, 
2004, compared to a net loss of $0.3 million, net of a tax benefit of $0.2 
million, as of January 31, 2003. Under SFAS No. 133, changes in fair value of 
these instruments are recognized in AOCI to offset the change in the value of 
the net investment being hedged. 
 
The following presents fair value and maturities of the Company's foreign 
currency derivatives outstanding as of January 31, 2004 (in millions): 
 
 
 
                                              January 31, 2004 
                              Fair Value Maturities 
 
      Forward exchange contracts                       $5.5         2004 
 
      Purchased foreign currency options               $1.1      2005-2006 
                                                     --------- 
                                                       $6.6 
                                                     ========= 
 
The Company estimates the fair value of its foreign currency derivatives based 
on quoted market prices or pricing models using current market rates. These 
derivative instruments are currently reflected in other assets or current 
liabilities. 
 
NOTE 7 - FAIR VALUE OF OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The fair value of the Company's 6.56% Senior Notes and 6.90% Series A Senior 
Notes approximate 103% and 107% of the carrying value of the notes, 
respectively, as of January 31, 2004. The fair value was calculated based upon 
the present value of future cash flows discounted at estimated borrowing rates 
for similar debt instruments or upon estimated prices based on current yields 
for debt issues of similar quality and terms. 
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NOTE 8 - INCOME TAXES 
 
The provision for income taxes for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2004, 2003 
and 2002 consists of the following components (in thousands): 
 
                                            2004        2003        2002 
                                          -------     -------     ------- 
      Current: 
             U.S. Federal                 $ 4,346     $ 3,454     $   480 
             U.S. State and Local            (126)        134        (165) 
             Non-U.S.                       1,282         445       1,221 
                                          -------     -------     ------- 
                                            5,502       4,033       1,536 
                                          -------     -------     ------- 
      Noncurrent: 
             U.S. Federal                      --          --          -- 
             U.S. State and Local              --          --          -- 
             Non-U.S.                       2,186       3,165       1,109 
                                          -------     -------     ------- 
                                            2,186       3,165       1,109 
                                          -------     -------     ------- 
      Deferred: 
             U.S. Federal                    (351)        775       1,057 
             U.S. State and Local              60         (65)         26 
             Non-U.S.                       1,489        (107)          7 
                                          -------     -------     ------- 
                                            1,198         603       1,090 
                                          -------     -------     ------- 
      Provision for income taxes          $ 8,886     $ 7,801     $ 3,735 
                                          =======     =======     ======= 
 
Significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2004 and 2003 consist of the 
following (in thousands): 
 
 
 
 
 
                                          2004 Deferred Taxes        2003 Deferred Taxes 
                                          -------------------        ------------------- 
                                         Assets     Liabilities     Assets     Liabilities 
                                        --------      --------     --------      -------- 
                                                                      
      Operating loss carryforwards      $    896            --     $  1,159      $     -- 
      Rent accrual                           310            --          257            -- 
      Inventory reserve                    1,633         4,843        2,364         5,025 
      Receivable allowance                 2,840           900        1,941         1,079 
      Deferred compensation                3,941            --        3,718            -- 
      FAS 133                                 --           471           --         2,668 
      Depreciation/amortization               --           544           23            -- 
      Other                                1,603         1,218        1,537           308 
 
                                        --------      --------     --------      -------- 
                                          11,223         7,976       10,999         9,080 
      Valuation allowance                   (795)           --         (950)           -- 
                                        --------      --------     --------      -------- 
      Total                             $ 10,428      $  7,976     $ 10,049      $  9,080 
                                        ========      ========     ========      ======== 
 
 
As of January 31, 2004, the Company had foreign net operating loss 
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carryforwards of approximately $3.4 million, which are available to offset 
taxable income in future years. As of January 31, 2004, the Company maintained a 
valuation allowance with respect to the tax benefit of certain foreign net 
operating loss carryforwards. Since the Company's foreign deferred tax assets 
relate primarily to its former sales office in Germany, which is currently 
operated by an independent distributor, the Company's assessment is that the 
foreign deferred tax assets will not likely be utilized in the foreseeable 
future. Management is continuing to evaluate the appropriate level of allowance 
based on future operating results and changes in circumstances. 
 
The provision for income taxes differs from the amount determined by applying 
the U.S. federal statutory rate as follows (in thousands): 
 
 
 
 
                                                                          Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 
                                                                          ----------------------------- 
                                                                         2004          2003          2002 
                                                                       --------      --------      -------- 
                                                                                           
      Provision for income taxes at the U.S. statutory rate            $ 11,108      $  9,751      $  7,262 
      Lower effective foreign income tax rate                            (5,487)       (4,110)       (4,332) 
      Change in valuation allowance                                         (13)          (12)          110 
      Tax provided on repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries        3,133         1,856         1,377 
      State and local taxes, net of federal benefit                         (43)           44          (139) 
      Other, net                                                            188           272          (543) 
                                                                       --------      --------      -------- 
      Total                                                            $  8,886      $  7,801      $  3,735 
                                                                       ========      ========      ======== 
 
 
 
No provision has been made for federal income or withholding taxes which may be 
payable on the remittance of the undistributed retained earnings of foreign 
subsidiaries approximating $203.0 million at January 31, 2004, as those earnings 
are considered reinvested for an indefinite period. As a result of various tax 
planning strategies available to the Company, it is not practical to estimate 
the amount of tax, if any, that may be payable on the eventual distribution of 
such earnings. 
 
NOTE 9 - OTHER ASSETS 
 
In fiscal 1996, the Company entered into an agreement with a trust which owned 
an insurance policy issued on the lives of the Company's Chairman and his 
spouse. Under this agreement, the trust assigned the insurance policy to the 
Company as collateral to secure repayment by the trust of interest-free loans 
made by the Company to the trust in amounts equal to the premiums on said 
insurance policy (approximately $0.7 million per annum). The agreement required 
the trust to repay the loans from the proceeds of the policy. At January 31, 
2003, the Company had outstanding loans from the trust of $5.2 million. On April 
4, 2003, the agreement was amended and restated to transfer the policy from the 
trust to the Company in partial repayment of the loan balance. The Company is 
the beneficiary of the policy insofar as upon the death of the Company's 
Chairman and his spouse, the proceeds of the policy would first be distributed 
to the Company to repay the premiums paid by the Company with the remaining 
proceeds distributed to the trust. As of January 31, 2004, the total premiums 
paid amounted to $6.1 million and the cash surrender value of the policy was 
$5.6 million. 
 
NOTE 10 - LEASES, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Company leases office, distribution, retail and manufacturing facilities, 
and office equipment under operating leases, which expire at various dates 
through January 2015. Certain of the leases provide for renewal 
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options and escalation clauses for real estate taxes and other occupancy costs. 
Rent expense for equipment and distribution, factory and office facilities under 
operating leases was approximately $9.7 million, $8.9 million and $7.7 million 
in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Minimum annual rentals at January 
31, 2004 under noncancelable operating leases, which do not include escalations 
that will be based on increases in real estate taxes and operating costs, are as 
follows: 
 
                         Fiscal Year Ending January 31, 
                                 (in thousands): 
 
 
                           2005                $ 9,456 
                           2006                  9,294 
                           2007                  8,589 
                           2008                  7,318 
                           2009                  6,986 
                        Thereafter              25,865 
                                               ------- 
                                               $67,508 
                                               ======= 
 
Due to the nature of its business as a luxury consumer goods distributor, the 
Company is exposed to various commercial losses. The Company believes it is 
adequately insured against such losses. 
 
NOTE 11 - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 
 
The Company maintains an Employee Savings Plan under Section 401(k) of the 
Internal Revenue Code. Company contributions and expenses of administering the 
Employee Savings Plan amounted to $0.6 million, $0.7 million and $0.6 million in 
fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 
 
Effective June 1, 1995, the Company adopted a defined contribution supplemental 
executive retirement plan ("SERP"). The SERP provides eligible executives with 
supplemental pension benefits in addition to amounts received under the 
Company's other retirement plan. The Company makes a matching contribution which 
vests equally over five years. During fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company 
recorded an expense related to the SERP of approximately $0.5 million for each 
year. 
 
During fiscal 1999, the Company adopted a Stock Bonus Plan for all employees not 
in the SERP. Under the terms of this Stock Bonus Plan, the Company contributes a 
discretionary amount to the trust established under the plan. Each plan 
participant vests after five years in 100% of their respective prorata portion 
of such contribution. For fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company recorded an 
expense of $0.3 million, $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively, related to 
this plan. 
 
On September 23, 1994, the Company entered into a Death and Disability Benefit 
Plan agreement with the Company's Chairman. Under the terms of the agreement, in 
the event of the Chairman's death or disability, the Company is required to make 
an annual benefit payment of approximately $300,000 to his spouse for the lesser 
of ten years or her remaining lifetime. Neither the agreement nor the benefits 
payable thereunder are assignable and no benefits are payable to the estates or 
heirs of the Chairman or his spouse. Results of operations include an 
actuarially determined charge related to this plan of approximately $0.2 
million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million in fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively. 
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 Effective concurrently with the consummation of the Company's public offering 
in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1994, the Board of Directors and the 
shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of the Movado Group, Inc. 1993 
Employee Stock Option Plan (the "Employee Stock Option Plan") for the benefit of 
certain officers, directors and key employees of the Company. The Employee Stock 
Option Plan was amended in fiscal 1997 and restated as the Movado Group, Inc. 
1996 Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan"). Under the Plan, the Compensation 
Committee of the Board of Directors, which is comprised of the Company's five 
outside directors, has the authority to grant incentive stock options and 
nonqualified stock options, to purchase, as well as stock appreciation rights 
and stock awards, up to 3,500,000 shares of Common Stock. Options granted to 
participants under the Plan generally become exercisable in equal installments 
over three or five years and remain exercisable until the tenth anniversary of 
the date of grant. The option price may not be less than the fair market value 
of the stock at the time the options are granted. 
 
Transactions in stock options under the Plan since fiscal 2001 are summarized as 
follows: 
 
                                              Outstanding      Weighted Average 
                                               Options          Exercise Price 
                                               -------          -------------- 
      January 31, 2001                        1,614,301             $15.09 
      Options granted                           911,700             $17.26 
      Options exercised                        (231,301)            $ 8.29 
      Options forfeited                        (118,028)            $19.70 
                                             ----------             ------ 
      January 31, 2002                        2,176,672             $16.47 
      Options granted                           324,450             $20.10 
      Options exercised                        (177,748)            $ 9.08 
      Options forfeited                         (53,614)            $18.77 
                                             ----------             ------ 
      January 31, 2003                        2,269,760             $17.52 
      Options granted                           489,072             $24.06 
      Options exercised                        (819,855)            $17.47 
      Options forfeited                         (76,988)            $11.72 
                                             ----------             ------ 
      January 31, 2004                        1,861,989             $19.41 
                                             ==========             ====== 
 
Options exercisable at January 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were 1,222,956, 1,095,797 
and 796,015, respectively. 
 
The following table summarizes outstanding and exercisable stock options as of 
January 31, 2004: 
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                                                   Weighted- 
                                                    Average              Weighted-                           Weighted- 
                                                   Remaining             Average                             Average 
         Range of                Number           Contractual            Exercise            Number          Exercise 
     Exercise Prices          Outstanding         Life (years)            Price            Exercisable        Price 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                             
    $6.24   -    $9.35          136,127                6.3                 $8.50              66,607            $8.50 
    $9.36   -   $12.46          161,688                2.0                 $9.94             161,688            $9.94 
   $12.47   -   $15.57          321,874                5.8                $13.99             191,669           $13.73 
   $15.58   -   $18.69           83,033                7.0                $17.21              17,201           $16.68 
   $18.70   -   $21.80          468,064                7.0                $20.44             209,228           $20.62 
   $21.81   -   $24.92          143,844                5.2                $23.98             115,344           $23.97 
   $24.93   -   $28.03          203,762                6.5                $25.59             117,622           $26.02 
   $28.04   -   $31.15          343,597                6.7                $30.42             343,597           $30.42 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                              1,861,989                6.2                $19.41           1,222,956           $20.99 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
NOTE 12 - TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
The components of comprehensive income for the twelve months ended January 31, 
2004, 2003 and 2002 are as follows (in thousands): 
 
 
 
                                                       2004          2003          2002 
                                                     --------      --------      -------- 
                                                                          
Net income                                            $22,851       $20,059       $17,014 
 
Accounting change, net of tax                              --            --           367 
Net unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net of 
tax                                                       139           (82)          199 
Net change in Effective portion of 
hedging contracts, net of tax                          (3,434)        4,584          (449) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment                18,382        38,170        (5,234) 
                                                     --------      --------      -------- 
Total comprehensive income                            $37,938       $62,731       $11,897 
                                                     ========      ========      ======== 
 
 
NOTE 13 - SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
The Company conducts its business primarily in two operating segments: Wholesale 
and Retail. The Company's Wholesale segment includes the designing, 
manufacturing and distribution of quality watches, in addition to revenue 
generated from after sales service activities and shipping. The Retail segment 
includes the Movado Boutiques and outlet stores. 
 
The Company divides its business into two major geographic segments: Domestic, 
which includes the results of the Company's North American, Caribbean and Tommy 
Hilfiger South American operations, and International, which includes the 
results of all other Company operations. The Company's International operations 
are principally conducted in Europe, the Middle East and Asia. The Company's 
International assets are substantially located in Europe. 
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Operating Segment Data as of and for the Fiscal Year Ended January 31, (in 
thousands): 
 
 
 
                                                Net Sales                                   Operating Income (Loss) 
                              -----------------------------------------------     -------------------------------------------- 
                                 2004              2003             2002             2004            2003            2002 
                              ------------     -------------    -------------     ------------    ------------    ------------ 
                                                                                                     
     Wholesale (1)               $269,341          $246,195         $252,553          $34,930         $29,544         $25,445 
     Retail                        60,873            53,882           47,172            (149)           2,232             828 
                              ------------     -------------    -------------     ------------    ------------    ------------ 
     Consolidated total          $330,214          $300,077         $299,725          $34,781         $31,776         $26,273 
                              ============     =============    =============     ============    ============    ============ 
 
 
                                               Total Assets                                  Capital Expenditures 
                              -----------------------------------------------     -------------------------------------------- 
                                  2004             2003             2002             2004            2003            2002 
                              -------------    -------------    -------------     ------------    ------------    ------------ 
                                                                                                     
     Wholesale                    $344,765         $310,937         $259,499           $2,958          $4,383          $8,631 
     Retail                         46,202           34,217           31,177            7,872           2,142           5,271 
                              -------------    -------------    -------------     ------------    ------------    ------------ 
     Consolidated total           $390,967         $345,154         $290,676          $10,830          $6,525         $13,902 
                              =============    =============    =============     ============    ============    ============ 
 
 
                                      Depreciation and Amortization 
                              ----------------------------------------------- 
                                  2004             2003             2002 
                              -------------    -------------    ------------- 
                                                              
     Wholesale                      $7,500           $6,517           $6,043 
     Retail                          2,473            1,852            1,507 
                              -------------    -------------    ------------- 
     Consolidated total             $9,973           $8,369           $7,550 
                              =============    =============    ============= 
 
 
Geographic Segment Data as of and for the Fiscal Year Ended January 31, (in 
thousands): 
 
 
 
                                    Net Sales                          Long-Lived Assets 
                       ----------------------------------     ---------------------------------- 
                         2004         2003         2002         2004         2003         2002 
                       --------     --------     --------     --------     --------     -------- 
                                                                        
Domestic               $285,739     $261,701     $251,857      $30,216      $26,530      $26,770 
International            44,475       38,376       47,868       11,896       13,409       11,956 
                       --------     --------     --------     --------     --------     -------- 
Consolidated total     $330,214     $300,077     $299,725      $42,112      $39,939      $38,726 
                       ========     ========     ========     ========     ========     ======== 
 
 
                                             Operating Income (Loss) 
                                         ------------------------------- 
                                           2004        2003        2002 
                                         -------     -------     ------- 
                  Domestic                $6,622      $8,458      $3,704 
                  International           28,159      23,318      22,569 
                                         -------     -------     ------- 
                  Consolidated total     $34,781     $31,776     $26,273 
                                         =======     =======     ======= 
 
(1)  The domestic and international net sales are net of intercompany sales of 
     $209.7 million, $182.5 million and $150.5 million for the twelve months 
     ended January 31, 2004, January 31, 2003 and January 31, 2002, 
     respectively. 
 
NOTE 14 - QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 
 
The following table presents unaudited selected interim operating results of the 
Company for fiscal 2004 and 2003(in thousands, except per share amounts): 
 
 
                                      F-21 



 
 
                                                Quarter Ended 
                              -------------------------------------------------- 
                                 1st          2nd           3rd            4th 
                              -------       -------       --------       ------- 
Fiscal 2004 
   Net sales                  $60,170       $76,545       $100,767       $92,732 
   Gross profit               $36,440       $47,239       $ 61,339       $55,288 
   Net income                 $   856       $ 5,751       $ 10,074       $ 6,170 
 
Per share: 
    Net income: 
       Basic                  $  0.07       $  0.48       $   0.83       $  0.51 
       Diluted                $  0.07       $  0.46       $   0.80       $  0.49 
 
Fiscal 2003 
    Net sales                 $57,271       $72,244       $ 91,023       $79,539 
    Gross profit              $35,179       $44,373       $ 55,775       $48,843 
    Net income                $   332       $ 5,372       $  8,808       $ 5,547 
 
Per share: 
    Net income 
       Basic                  $  0.03       $  0.45       $   0.74       $  0.47 
       Diluted                $  0.03       $  0.44       $   0.73       $  0.46 
 
 
As each quarter is calculated as a discrete period, the sum of the four quarters 
may not equal the calculated full year amount. This is in accordance with 
prescribed reporting requirements. 
 
NOTE 15 - SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
The following is provided as supplemental information to the consolidated 
statements of cash flows (in thousands): 
 
                                                 Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 
                                               2004          2003          2002 
                                              ------        ------        ------ 
Cash paid during the year for: 
       Interest                               $2,369        $3,559        $4,963 
       Income taxes                           $5,864        $6,583        $9,118 
 
NOTE 16 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
On March 1, 2004, Movado Group, Inc. (the "Company") completed the previously 
announced acquisition of the Ebel business (the "Ebel Business") from LVMH Moet 
Hennessy Louis Vuitton ("LVMH") pursuant to a Share Purchase and Transfer of 
Assets and Liabilities Agreement, dated December 22, 2003, between Concord Watch 
Company SA, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the "Purchaser"), and 
Sofidiv SAS, a wholly-owned subsidiary of LVMH (the "Seller"), as amended by 
Amendment dated March 1, 2004 (the "Purchase 
                                      F-22 



 
 Agreement"), except for the acquisition of the Ebel Business in Germany, which 
the Company expects to complete on or about May 1, 2004. The transaction was 
effected through (i) the acquisition by the Purchaser from the Seller of all of 
the outstanding shares of capital stock of Ebel SA, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Seller engaged in the Ebel Business, and (ii) the transfer of certain 
additional assets and liabilities related to the Ebel Business from certain 
affiliates of the Seller to certain affiliates of the Purchaser. 
 
The total purchase price, which was based in part on the net book value of the 
transferred assets, was 47.9 million Swiss francs in cash (approximately $37.8 
million based on exchange rates as of March 1, 2004), subject to post-closing 
adjustments. The Company funded the acquisition with cash on hand. The Company 
currently intends to use the acquired assets in the continued operation of the 
Ebel business. 
 
On March 10, 2004, the Board approved an increase in the quarterly cash dividend 
rate from $0.06 to $0.08 per share and approved a 2 for 1 stock split to be 
effected by means of a stock dividend distributable on June 25, 2004 to 
shareholders of record as of June 11, 2004, subject to shareholder approval of 
an increase in the number of authorized shares of Common Stock and Class A 
Common Stock at the annual shareholders meeting. 
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                                   Schedule II 
 
                               MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
 
                 VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES 
                                 (in thousands) 
 
 
 
                                           Balance at        Provision 
                                           beginning         charged to          Currency               Net              Balance at
               Description                  of year          operations         revaluation         write-offs          end of year
               -----------                  -------         ------------        -----------         -----------         -----------
                                                                                                             
Year ended January 31, 2004: 
  Allowance for doubtful accounts           $5,235             $2,290              $106                 ($972)             $6,659 
 
Year ended January 31, 2003: 
  Allowance for doubtful accounts           $4,070             $1,987               $93                 ($915)             $5,235 
 
Year ended January 31, 2002: 
  Allowance for doubtful accounts           $4,442             $1,384              ($16)              ($1,740)             $4,070 
 
 
                                           Balance at         Provision 
                                           beginning          charged to          Currency              Net             Balance at 
                                            of year           operations         revaluation         write-offs         end of year
                                            -------         ------------        -----------         -----------         -----------
                                                                                                             
Year ended January 31, 2004: 
  Inventory reserve                         $4,323              $993              ($645)              ($2,263)             $2,408 
 
Year ended January 31, 2003: 
  Inventory reserve                         $8,151             $1,829              $848               ($6,505)             $4,323 
 
Year ended January 31, 2002: 
  Inventory reserve                         $9,607               $885             ($479)              ($1,862)             $8,151 
 
 
                                          Balance at         Provision/ 
                                          beginning           (benefit)           Currency                              Balance at 
                                            of year         to operation        revaluation         Adjustments         end of year
                                            -------         ------------        -----------         -----------         -----------
                                                                                                             
Year ended January 31, 2004: 
  Deferred tax assets valuation               $950               ($13)            ($142)                  $--                $795 
    Allowance 
 
Year ended January 31, 2003: 
  Deferred tax assets valuation             $1,480               ($12)              $86                 ($604)               $950 
    Allowance 
 
Year ended January 31, 2002: 
  Deferred tax assets valuation             $1,383               $110              ($13)                  $--              $1,480 
    Allowance 
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                                                                     EXHIBIT 4.5 
 
                                                                  EXECUTION COPY 
                                                                  EXECUTION COPY 
 
                                  AMENDMENT TO 
                                NOTE PURCHASE AND 
                             PRIVATE SHELF AGREEMENT 
 
     THIS AMENDMENT (this "Amendment") TO THAT CERTAIN Note Purchase and Private 
Shelf Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2001 (herein called the "Note 
Agreement"), between The Prudential Insurance Company of America ("Prudential") 
and Movado Group, Inc., a New York corporation (the "Company"), IS ENTERED INTO 
as of March 21, 2004, by the Purchasers (as defined in the Note Agreement) and 
the Company. 
 
     WHEREAS, the Company and the Purchasers party thereto have executed and 
delivered the Note Agreement; 
 
     WHEREAS, Movado Retail Group, Inc., a New Jersey corporation and successor 
by merger with SwissAm, Inc. ("MRG"), and Movado LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company ("Movado LLC", and together, with MRG, the "Guarantors"), have 
each guaranteed the obligations of the Company under the Note Agreement; 
 
     WHEREAS, capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have 
the meanings set forth in the Note Agreement; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the Company has requested the amendment of certain provisions of 
the Note Agreement, and the Purchasers have indicated their willingness to agree 
to such amendments subject to certain limitations and conditions, as provided 
for herein; 
 
     NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises, the mutual 
covenants and agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable 
consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
1.  Amendments to Note Agreement. The Purchasers and the Company hereby agree 
as follows: 
 
     (a) The Note Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the text in clause (i) 
of Paragraph 2A(2) which reads "the third anniversary of the date of this 
Agreement (or if such anniversary is not a Business Day, the Business Day next 
preceding such anniversary" and replacing it with the following text in its 
entirety: "March 21, 2007". 
 
     (b) The Note Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the heading of 
Paragraph 6C which reads "Limitations on Debt" and replacing it with 
"Limitations on the Incurrence of Debt." 
 
     (c) The Note Agreement is hereby amended by amending and restating 
Paragraph 6D as follows: 
 
     "6D Limitations on Debt. The Company covenants that it will not permit, at 
any time, 
 
     (i) Priority Debt to exceed 20% of Consolidated Total Capitalization; and 



 
 
     (ii) the sum of aggregate amount of Consolidated Funded Debt and Excess 
Current Debt to exceed 55% of the sum of Consolidated --- Total Capitalization 
and Excess Current Debt." 
 
     (d) The Note Agreement is hereby amended by amending and restating clause 
(i) of the definition of "Reinvestment Yield" set forth in Paragraph 10A thereof 
and as follows: 
 
          "(i) the yield(s) reported as of 10:00 A.M. (New York City time) on 
          the Business Day preceding the Settlement Date with respect to such 
          Called Principal, on the display designated as "PX1" on the Bloomberg 
          Financial Markets Services Screen (or such other display as may 
          replace page "PX1" on the Bloomberg Financial Markets Services Screen) 
          for actively traded U.S. Treasury securities having a maturity equal 
          to the Remaining Average Life of such Called Principal as of such 
          Settlement Date," 
 
2. Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company hereby: 
   ---------------------------------------------- 
 
 
     (a) Repeats (and confirms as true and correct) as of the date hereof, for 
the Purchasers' benefit, each of the representations and warranties set forth in 
Paragraphs 8A, 8C, 8E, 8G, 8H, 8I, 8J, 8K, 8L, 8M, 8N, 8O, 8P, 8Q, 8R, 8S and 8T 
of the Note Agreement, and further agrees that by this reference such 
representations and warranties are hereby incorporated herein (as though set 
forth herein) in their entirety; 
 
     (b) Further represents and warrants as of the date hereof that: 
 
          (i) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; 
 
          (ii) the Company and the Guarantors have the corporate or equivalent 
     power to execute and deliver this Amendment, and to perform the provisions 
     hereof, and this Amendment has been duly authorized by all necessary 
     corporate or equivalent action on the part of each such Person; 
 
          (iii) this Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by the 
     Company and the Guarantors and constitutes such Person's legal, valid and 
     binding obligation, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as 
     such enforceability may be limited (x) by general principles of equity and 
     conflicts of laws or (y) by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, 
     moratorium or other laws of general application relating to or affecting 
     the enforcement, of creditors' rights; 
 
          (iv) no consent, approval, authorization or order of, or filing, 
     registration or qualification with, any court or administrative or 
     governmental body or third party is required in connection with the 
     execution, delivery or performance by such Person of this Amendment; 
 
          (v) the Company has furnished Prudential with the audited consolidated 
     and consolidating balance sheets of the Company and its Subsidiaries at 
     January 31, 2001, January 31, 2002 and January 31, 2003 and the related 
     consolidated and consolidating statements of income and cash flows and 
     changes in shareholders' equity for each of the years in the three-year 
     period ended January 31, 2003, all reported on by 
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 PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP; and the unaudited consolidated balance sheets of 
     the Company and its Subsidiaries at October 31, 2003 and the related 
     consolidated and consolidating statements of income and cash flows and 
     changes in shareholders' equity for the nine months ended October 31, 2002 
     and October 31, 2003. All of such financial statements (including any 
     related schedules and/or notes) are true and correct in all material 
     respects (subject, as to interim statements, to changes resulting from 
     audits and year-end adjustments) and fairly present the consolidated 
     financial position and the consolidated results of the operations and 
     consolidated cash flows of the corporations described therein at the dates 
     and for the periods shown, all in conformity with generally accepted 
     accounting principles applied on a consistent basis (except as otherwise 
     stated therein or in the notes thereto stated) throughout the periods 
     involved. None of the Company and its Subsidiaries has any contingent 
     liabilities, liabilities for taxes, unusual forward or long-term 
     commitments or unrealized or anticipated losses from any unfavorable 
     commitments which are substantial and material in amount in relation to the 
     consolidated financial condition of the Company, except as referred to or 
     reflected or provided for in the financial statements. Since January 31, 
     2003, (i) there has been no change in the assets, liabilities or condition 
     (financial or otherwise) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other 
     than changes which have not been, either in any case or in the aggregate, 
     materially adverse to the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole and 
     (ii) neither the business, operations, affairs nor any of the properties or 
     assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have been affected by any 
     occurrence or development (whether or not insured against) which has been, 
     either in any case or in the aggregate, materially adverse to the Company 
     and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
 
          (vi) Schedule 8A to this Amendment sets forth a complete and correct 
     list as to each of the Company's Subsidiaries as of the date hereof. 
 
          (vii) except as described therein, Schedule 8D to this Amendment sets 
     forth a complete and correct list of all outstanding Debt of the Company 
     and its Subsidiaries as of January 31, 2004. There exists no default or 
     temporary waiver or default under the provisions of any instrument evidence 
     such Debt or of any agreement relating thereto; 
 
          (viii) (A) the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has (to the extent 
     material to the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole) good and 
     indefeasible title to its respective real properties (other than properties 
     which it leases) and good title to all of its other respective properties 
     and assets, including the properties and assets reflected in the balance 
     sheet as at October 31, 2003 (other than properties and assets disposed of 
     in the ordinary course of business), subject to no Lien of any kind except 
     Liens permitted by Paragraph 6B of the Note Agreement, and (B) all leases 
     necessary in any material respect for the conduct of the respective 
     businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries are valid and subsisting and 
     are in full force and effect; 
 
          (ix) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (A) is listed on 
     the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List (the "SDN 
     List") maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, Department of 
     the Treasury ("OFAC"), or on any other list of terrorists or terrorist 
     organizations maintained pursuant to any of the rules and regulations of 
     OFAC or pursuant to any other applicable Executive Order (such other lists 
     are referred to herein, collectively, as the "Other Lists"; the SDN List 
     and the Other Lists are referred to herein, collectively, as the "Lists"), 
     (B) has been determined by competent authority to be 
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     subject to the prohibitions contained in Executive Order No. 13224 (Sept. 
     23, 2001) or any other similar prohibitions contained in the rules and 
     regulations of OFAC or in any enabling legislation or other Executive 
     Orders in respect thereof, (C) is owned or controlled by, or acts for or on 
     behalf of, any person on the Lists or any other person who has been 
     determined by competent authority to be subject to the prohibitions 
     contained in Executive Order No. 13224 (Sept. 23, 2001) or similar 
     prohibitions contained in the rules and regulations of OFAC or any enabling 
     legislation or other Executive Orders in respect thereof, and (D) is 
     failing to comply in any material way with the requirements of Executive 
     Order No. 13224 (Sept. 23, 2001) and other similar requirements contained 
     in the rules and regulations of OFAC and in any enabling legislation or 
     other Executive Orders in respect thereof; and 
 
          (x) neither the Company nor any Guarantor has any defenses, offsets or 
     counterclaims against any of their obligations under or in respect of the 
     Note Agreement or the Subsidiary Guarantee. 
 
3. Acknowledgement and Consent of Guarantors. Each Guarantor hereby acknowledges 
that it has reviewed the terms and provisions of the Note Agreement, the Notes, 
the Subsidiary Guarantee and this Amendment and consents to the amendment to the 
Note Agreement effected pursuant to this Amendment. Each Guarantor confirms that 
its Subsidiary Guarantee will continue to guarantee to the fullest extent 
possible the payment and performance of all guaranteed Obligations (as defined 
in each Subsidiary Guarantee). Each Guarantor acknowledges and agrees that (a) 
its Subsidiary Guarantee shall continue in full force and effect and that its 
obligations thereunder shall be valid and enforceable and shall not be impaired 
or limited by the execution or effectiveness of this Amendment, and (b) (i) 
notwithstanding the conditions to effectiveness hereof, such Guarantor is not 
required by the terms of the Note Agreement, the Notes or the Subsidiary 
Guarantee to consent to the amendments to the Note Agreement effected pursuant 
to this Amendment, and (ii) nothing in the Note Agreement, the Notes or the 
Subsidiary Guarantee shall be deemed to require the consent of any such 
Guarantor to any future amendments to the Note Agreement. 
 
4. Effectiveness of Amendment. This Amendment shall become effective upon the 
date each of the following conditions thereto is satisfied: 
 
     (a)  receipt by the Purchasers of counterparts of this Amendment, executed 
          and delivered by each of the parties hereto, 
 
     (b)  receipt by the Purchasers of: 
 
          (i) Certified copies of the resolutions of the Board of Directors of 
          the Company and each Guarantor, authorizing the execution and delivery 
          of this Amendment, and of all documents evidencing other necessary 
          corporate action and governmental approvals, if any, with respect to 
          this Amendment; 
 
          (ii) a certificate dated the date hereof of the Secretary or an 
          Assistant Secretary and one other officer of the Company (together 
          with such evidence thereof as may be reasonably requested by the 
          Purchasers) certifying that (A) the certificate of such Person 
          previously delivered pursuant to Paragraph 3A(iii)(a) of the Note 
          Agreement continues to be true, current and correct and (B) the 
          Certificate of Incorporation and 
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          By-laws of such Person previously delivered pursuant to Paragraph 
          3A(iv)(a) of the Note Agreement continue to be in full force and 
          effect and have not been modified or amended in any respect (in each 
          case, except as specifically set forth therein, which modifications or 
          amendments shall be in form and substance acceptable to the 
          Purchasers); 
 
          (iii) a corporate good standing certificate for the Company from the 
          Secretary of State of New York dated of a recent date; 
 
          (iv) favorable opinion of Timothy F. Michno, Esq., General Counsel of 
          the Company, dated the date hereof, satisfactory to the Purchasers and 
          in form and substance substantially identical to Exhibit E-1 to the 
          Note Agreement. The Company hereby directs such counsel to deliver 
          such opinion(s) and agrees that each Purchaser receiving such an 
          opinion will and is hereby authorized to rely on such opinion; and 
 
          (v) such additional documents or certificates with respect to legal 
          matters or corporate or other proceedings related to the transactions 
          contemplated hereby as may be reasonably requested by the Purchasers. 
 
     (c) the representations and warranties contained in Section 2 above shall 
be true on and as of the date hereof, and there shall exist on the date hereof 
no Event of Default or Default; 
 
     (d) the Company shall have paid Prudential Investment Management, Inc. (and 
Prudential Investment Management, Inc. shall have received) on the date hereof a 
facility fee in the amount of $15,000; 
 
     (e) all corporate and other proceedings taken or to be taken in connection 
with the transactions contemplated hereby and all documents incident thereto 
shall be satisfactory in substance and form to the Purchasers, the Purchasers 
shall have received all such counterpart originals or certified or other copies 
of such documents as it may reasonably request; 
 
     (f) the execution and delivery of this Amendment shall (i) not violate any 
applicable law or governmental regulation (including, without limitation, 
Section 5 of the Securities Act or Regulation T, U or X of the Board of 
Governors of the Federal Reserve System) and (ii) shall not subject any 
Purchaser to any tax, penalty, liability or other onerous condition under or 
pursuant to any applicable law or governmental regulation; 
 
     (g) counsel for the Purchasers shall be satisfied as to all legal matters 
relating to this Amendment, and the Purchasers shall have received from such 
counsel favorable opinions as to such legal matters as they may request; and 
 
     (h) the Company shall have made all requests, filings and registrations 
with, and obtained all consents and approvals from, the relevant national, 
state, local or foreign jurisdiction(s), or any administrative, legal or 
regulatory body or agency thereof, that are necessary in connection with this 
Amendment and any and all other documents relating hereto, and the transactions 
contemplated hereby. 
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6. Miscellaneous. 
   ------------- 
 
     (a) This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by any 
combination of the parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which 
counterparts shall be an original and all of which taken together shall 
constitute one and the same agreement. 
 
     (b) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, 
the laws of the State of New York. 
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     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Amendment to be executed 
and delivered by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the 
date first above written. 
 
                                    MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
 
 
                                    By: /s/ Frank Kimick 
                                        ---------------- 
                                    Name: Frank Kimick 
                                          ------------ 
                                    Title: V.P. & Treasurer 
                                           --------------- 
 
                                    THE PRUDENTIAL INSURANCE 
                                    COMPANY OF AMERICA 
 
 
                                    By: /s/ Yvonne Guajardo 
                                        ------------------- 
                                    Name: Yvonne Guajardo 
                                          --------------- 
                                    Title: Vice President 
                                           -------------- 
 
                    CONSENT AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF GUARANTORS 
                    ----------------------------------------- 
 
                                    MOVADO RETAIL GROUP, INC., (as 
                                    successor by merger with SwissAm, Inc.) 
 
 
                                    By: /s/ Ray Stuart 
                                        -------------- 
                                    Name: Ray Stuart 
                                          ---------- 
                                    Title: President 
                                           --------- 
 
 
                                    MOVADO LLC 
 
 
                                    By: /s/ Eugene J. Karpovich 
                                        ----------------------- 
                                    Name: Eugene J. Karpovich 
                                          ------------------- 
                                    Title: Sr. V.P. CFO 
                                           ------------ 
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                                                                  EXHIBIT 10.28 
 
                              WAIVER AND AMENDMENT 
 
                  THIS WAIVER AND AMENDMENT, dated as of the 27th day of 
February, 2004, among MOVADO GROUP, INC., a New York corporation (the "Parent"); 
CONCORD WATCH COMPANY S.A., Swiss corporation ("Concord"); MOVADO WATCH COMPANY 
SA, Swiss corporation ("MWC"); each of She Lenders which is a signatory to the 
Credit Agreement referred to below; and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, as Administrative 
Agent, as Swingline Bank and as Issuing Bank. 
 
                              Preliminary Statement 
 
                  A.       Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of 
June 17, 2003 among the Parent, Concord, MWC, the Lenders thereto and JPMorgan 
Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent, as Swingline Bank and as Issuing Bank (the 
"Existing Credit Agreement"), All capitalized terms used In this Waiver and 
Amendment and not defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to 
them in the Existing Credit Agreement. 
 
                  B.       In connection with the acquisition by Concord of Ebel 
SA and the acquisition by the Parent and certain Subsidiaries of in connection 
with the worldwide business Related exclusively to the Ebel brand, all as set 
forth in that certain Share Purchase and Transfer of Assets and Liabilities 
Agreement dated as of December 22, 2003 between Sofidiv SAS and Concord (the 
"Acquisition Agreement"), the Borrowers have requested a waiver of a certain 
provision of the Existing Credit Agreement and certain amendments to the 
Existing Credit Agreement. 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration (the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged), the parties hereto 
agree as follows: 
 
ARTICLE 1.        PARTICULAR WAIVER AND AMENDMENTS 
 
                  Section 1.1. Capital Contribution to New Subsidiary. The 
Lenders hereby waive the restriction contained in Section 8.5 of the Existing 
Credit Agreement so as to permit MWC to make capital contributions of up to 
76,875,000 Swiss francs in the aggregate to MGI international, Ltd., Provided 
that (a) MGI International, Ltd. uses the capital contributions to make loans to 
(i) Concord for the purpose of enabling Concord to consummate the transaction 
contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement, (ii) other Subsidiaries (other than 
the Subsidiary Guarantors) for the purpose of enabling them to consummate the 
acquisition of the Ebel Assets as provided under the Acquisition Agreement and 
(iii) Subsidiaries in connection with the Core Business; and (b) MGI 
International, Ltd. is and remains a wholly-owned Subsidiary of MWC. Such waiver 
is limited strictly as written and shall not apply to, or entitle the Borrowers 
(or any of them) to any waiver or consent in respect of, any other or further 
noncompliance with the same or any other provision of the Existing Credit 
Agreement, now or on any future occasion. 
 
                  Section 1.2. Debt Limitation. Section 8.1 (d) of the Existing 
Credit Agreement is hereby amended so as to read as follows: 
 
                           (d) Debt of the Parent to any Subsidiary; and Debt of 
                  any Subsidiary to the Parent or to another Subsidiary, 
                  provided that the aggregate amount at any time outstanding of 
                  all Debt of Subsidiaries to the Parent or to other 
                  Subsidiaries does not exceed the sum of (i) the outstanding 
                  amount of the loan in the amount of 61,500,000 Swiss francs 
                  made by MGI international, Ltd. to Concord for the purpose of 
                  enabling Concord to consummate the transaction contemplated by 
                  the Acquisition Agreement, plus (ii) twenty percent (20%) of 
                  Consolidated Tangible Net Worth at the time of determination." 
 
                  Section 1.3. New Defined Term. Section 1.1 of the Existing 
Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding thereto the following defined term: 
 



 
 
                           "Acquisition Agreement' means the Share Purchase and 
                  Transfer of Assets and Liabilities Agreement as of December 
                  22, 2003 between Sofidiv SAS and Concord," 
 
                  Section 1.4. List of Subsidiaries. The list of Subsidiaries 
of the Parent set forth on Schedule III of the Existing Credit Agreement is 
hereby amended by adding thereto the following, each of which is formed under 
the of the jurisdiction opposite Its name: 
 
                       Ebel, SA - Switzerland 
                       SwissWave Europe SA - France 
                       MGI International, Ltd. - Bermuda 
                       Ebel Deutsehland gmbh - Germany 
                       Swissam UK Limited - United Kingdom 
                       SA de l'lmmeuble, rue de la Paix 101 - Switzerland 
 
The last sentence of such Schedule III applies to each of the foregoing 
Subsidiaries; provided, however, that the shares of Ebel, SA will not be owned 
by the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries until the closing of the acquisition by 
Concord of Ebel, SA. 
 
                  Section 1.5. Change in Address. The address of JPMorgan Chase 
Bank set forth on its signature page of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby 
amended by changing the phrase "Attention: Mr. Leonard D. Noll" (in the three 
places such phrase appears) to "Attention: Mr. Dennis McSherry". 
 
ARTICLE 2. MATTERS GENERALLY 
 
                  Section 2.1. Fee. Contemporaneously with the execution and 
delivery of this Waiver and Amendment, the Borrowers shall pay a nonrefundable 
waiver fee to the Administrative Agent for the Rateable benefit of the Lenders 
in the aggregate amount of $37,500. Such fee shall be in addition to all other 
amounts required to be paid by the Borrowers under the Existing Credit Agreement 
and this Waiver and Amendment. 
 
                  Section 2.2. Representations and Warranties. Each of the 
Borrowers hereby represents and warrants as follows (provided, however, that 
such representations and warranties by each Foreign Subsidiary Borrower shall be 
as to such Foreign Subsidiary Borrower only): 
 
                           (a)      All the representations and warranties set 
                  forth in the Existing Credit Agreement and in the other 
                  Facility Documents are true and complete on and as of the date 
                  hereof (with the same effect as though made on and as of such 
                  date). 
 
                           (b)      No Default or Event of Default exists. 
 
                           (c)      No Borrower has any offset or defense with 
                  respect to any of its obligations under the Existing Credit 
                  Agreement or any of the Notes or any other Facility Document, 
                  and no Borrower has any claim or counterclaim against any 
                  Lender, the Swingline Bank, the issuing Bank or the 
                  Administrative Agent whatsoever (any such offset, defense, 
                  claim or counterclaim as may now exist being hereby 
                  irrevocably waived by the Borrowers). 
 
                           (d)      This Waiver and Amendment has been duly 
                  authorized, executed and delivered by the Borrowers. 
 
                  Section 2.3. Guarantor Consent. The Subsidiary Guarantors 
shall execute this Waiver and Amendment in the space provided below to indicate 
their consent to the terms of this Waiver and Amendment. 
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                  Section 2.4. Expenses. The Borrowers shall pay all reasonable 
expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent in connection with this Waiver and 
Amendment, including (without limitation) the reasonable fees and disbursements 
of counsel for the Administrative Agent. 
 
                  Section 2.5. Continuing Effect. Except as otherwise expressly 
provided in this Waiver and Amendment, all the terms and conditions of the 
Existing Credit Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. All the other 
Facility Documents also shall continue in full force and effect. 
 
                  Section 2.6. Entire Agreement. This Waiver and Amendment 
constitutes the entire of the parties hereto with respect to a waiver or 
amendment of the Existing Credit Agreement pertaining TO the subject matter 
hereof, and it supersedes and replaces all prior and contemporaneous 
agreements, discussions and understandings (whether written or oral) with 
respect to such waiver and amendment. 
 
                  Section 2.7. Counterparts. This Waiver and Amendment may be 
executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an 
original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same 
agreement. 
 
                  Section 2.8. Effectiveness. This Waiver and Amendment shall 
not become effective unless and until it shall have been executed and delivered 
by the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders (which execution and 
delivery may be evidenced by telecopies). 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this 
Waiver and Amendment as of the day and year first above written. 
 
                                   MOVADO GROUP, INC. 
 
                                   By: /s/ Frank V. Kimick 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                       Name (Print): Frank V. Kimick 
                                       Tile: VP & Treasurer 
 
                                   CONCORD WATCH COMPANY S.A. 
 
                                   By: /s/ Kurt Burki 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                       Name (Print): Kurt Burki 
                                       Title: President 
 
                                   By: /s/ Emre Kurtoglu 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                       Name (Print): Emre Kurtoglu 
                                       Title: Director of Finance 
 
                                   MOVADO WATCH COMPANY SA 
 
                                   By: /s/ Kurt Burki 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                       Name (Print): Kurt Burki 
                                       Title: President 
 
                                   By: /s/ Emre Kurtoglu 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                       Name (Print): Emre Kurtoglu 
                                       Title: Director of Finance 
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                                   JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, as Administrative Agent, 
                                   as Lender, as Swingline and as Issuing Bank 
 
                                   By: /s/ Dennis Mc Sherry 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                       Dennis Mc Sherry 
                                       Vice President 
 
                                   FLEET NATIONAL BANK 
 
                                   By: /s/ John C. Auth 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                       John C. Auth 
                                       Vice President 
 
                                   THE BANK OF NEW YORK 
 
                                   By: /s/ Susan M. Graham 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                       Susan M. Graham 
                                       Vice President 
 
                                   CITIBANK, N.A. 
 
                                   By: /s/ Anthony V. Pantina 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                       Anthony V. Pantina 
                                       Vice President 
 
CONSENTED TO BY SUBSIDIARY GUARANTORS: 
 
MOVADO RETAIL GROUP, INC. 
 
By: /s/ Timothy F. Michno 
    --------------------------------- 
    Name (Print): Timothy F. Michno 
    Title: General Counsel 
 
MOVADO LLC 
 
By: /s/ Timothy F. Michno 
    --------------------------------- 
    Name (Print): Timothy F. Michno 
    Title: General Counsel 
 
                                       4 
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                            FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE 
 
1. PARTIES 
 
   1.1   THIS AGREEMENT made the 20 day of October, 2003 is between MACK-CALI 
         REALTY,L.P. ("Lessor") whose address is c/o Mack-Cali Realty 
         Corporation, 11 Commerce Drive, Cranford, New Jersey 07016 and MOVADO 
         GROUP, INC. ("Lessee"), whose address is Mack Centre II, One Mack 
         Drive, Paramus, New Jersey. 
 
2. STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 
   2.1   Lessor and Lessee entered into a Lease dated December 21,2000,as 
         amended by First Amendment to Lease dated December 21,2000,Second 
         Amendment to Lease dated July 26,2001,Third Amendment to Lease dated 
         November 6.2001 and Fourth Amendment to Lease dated March 15,2002 
         (hereinafter collectively, the "Lease") covering approximately 63,673 
         gross rentable square feet on the third (3d) floor ("Existing 
         Premises") in the building located at Mack Centre II, One Mack Drive, 
         Paramus, New Jersey ("Building");and 
 
   2.2   Lessee desires to expand the Existing Premises by leasing approximately 
         16,744 gross rentable square feet on the third (3rd) floor of the 
         Building contiguous to the Premises ("Fourth Expansion Premises"), as 
         shown on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 
 
   2.3   The parties desire to amend certain terms of the Lease as set forth 
         below. 
 
3. AGREEMENT 
 
      NOW,THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, covenants and conditions 
   hereinafter set forth, Lessor and Lessee agree as follows: 
 
   3.1   The above recitals are incorporated herein by reference. 
 
   3.2   All capitalized and non-capitalized terms used in this Agreement which 
         are not separately defined herein but are defined in the Lease shall 
         have the meaning given to any such term in the Lease. 
 
   3.3   The Term applicable to the Fourth Expansion Premises shall commence on 
         the date the Fourth Expansion Premises are delivered to Lessee (the 
         "Effective Date"), but in no event prior to February 1,2004, and shall 
         terminate at 1159 p.m. on June 30, 2013,said date being the Expiration 
         Date, as defined in the Lease. Lessor shall use reasonable efforts to 
         deliver the Fourth Expansion Premises to Lessee on or about February 
         1,2004but shall have no liability for failure to deliver same by said 
         date. 
 
   3.4   Lessor hereby leases the Fourth Expansion Premises to Lessee, and 
         Lessee shall accept the Fourth Expansion Premises on the Effective Date 
         in its "AS-IS" condition subject to any damage by casualty as set forth 
         in Section 10 of the Lease and with the Building systems serving the 
         Fourth Expansion Premises in good working order. Lessor represents that 
         to the best of its knowledge there are no unlawful quantities of 
         asbestos or contaminates in the Fourth Expansion Premises. 
 
   3.5   Lessee, at its sole cost and expense, shall perform improvement work to 
         the Fourth Expansion Premises. Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
         contrary, Lessor shall provide an allowance towards such improvements 
         work of up to THREE HUNDRED FIFTY THREE THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED 
         SIXTY EIGHT AND 00/100 DOLLARS ($353,968.00)("Lessor's Construction 
         Allowance"). In addition, notwithstanding anything herein to the 
         contrary, Lessor shall provide an additional allowance towards such 
         improvement work in an amount equal to up to SIXTY F N E THOUSAND EIGHT 
         HUNDRED THIRTY ONE AND 831100 DOLLARS ($65,831.83) ("Lessor's 
         Additional Construction Allowance"), which amount shall be paid 
         directly to Lessee in accordance with Exhibit B attached hereto. 
 
   3.6   From and after the Effective Date, the following shall be effective: 
 
         a. Lessor shall lease to Lessee and Lessee shall hire from Lessor the 
            Fourth Expansion Premises as shown on Exhibit A attached hereto and 
            made part hereof. 



 
            In addition to the Fixed Basic Rent payable applicable to the 
            Existing Premises, Lessee shall pay Lessor Fixed Basic Rent 
            applicable to the Fourth Expansion Premises which shall accrue as 
            follows and Paragraph 10 of the Preamble to the Lease shall be 
            deemed supplemented accordingly: 
 
 
 
(Lease Years)                       Yearly Rate           Monthly Installment 
- ------------                        -----------           ------------------- 
                                                     
Effective Date -6130105             $326.508.00           $27.209.00 
7/1/05 - 6130106                    $359;996.00           $29;999.67 
7/1/06 - 6130109                    $368,368.00           $30,697.33 
711109 - 6130113                    $397,670.00           $33,139.17 
 
 
            Notwithstanding anything hereinabove to the contrary, Lessee's 
            obligation to pay the accrual of Fixed Basic Rent for the Fourth 
            Expansion Premises shall commence only on the eight (8) month ten 
            (10) day anniversary of the Effective Date. 
 
         d. Parking Spaces as defined in Paragraph 14 of the Preamble to the 
            Lease shall be amended to be a total of three hundred five (305) 
            spaces, fifty-nine (59) of which shall be assigned (the additional 
            16 reserved spaces as shown on Exhibit C) and two hundred sixty-two 
            (262) of which shall be unassigned. 
 
         e. Lessee shall pay Lessor the cost of electricity consumed within the 
            Fourth Expansion Premises in accordance with Article 22 Building 
            Standard Office Electrical Service of the Lease. 
 
         f. Lessee's Percentage applicable to the Fourth Expansion Premises 
            shall be 4.80%. 
 
         g. Lessee shall pay Lessor, as Additional Rent, Lessee's Percentage 
            applicable to the Fourth Expansion Premises of the increased cost to 
            Lessor for each of the categories set forth in Article 23 
            (Additional Rent) over the Base Period Costs set forth in Paragraph 
            2 of the Preamble of Lease. Notwithstanding anything hereinabove to 
            the contrary, Lessee shall have no obligation to pay Lessee' 
            Percentage applicable to the Fourth Expansion Premises of the 
            increased cost to Lessor over the Base Period Costs for the Fourth 
            Expansion Premises during the first twelve (12) months following the 
            Effective Date. 
 
         h. The term "Fourth Expansion Premises" shall have the same meaning as 
            the term "Premises" as in the Lease, and the Lease shall be deemed 
            amended accordingly. All terms and agreements contained in the Lease 
            shall apply to the Fourth Expansion Premises demised herein with the 
            same force and effect as if the same had been set forth in full 
            herein except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement. 
 
   3.7   This Agreement shall not extend or otherwise amend the Term or Fixed 
         Basic Rent applicable to the Premises as defined herein. 
 
   3.8   If (i) Lessee leases additional space in the Building during the 
         initial term of the Lease (other than the Fourth Expansion Premises), 
         and no broker, other than Lessee's Broker (as defined in Paragraph 3.9 
         hereof) is involved, or (ii) Lessee renews or extends the Lease,as the 
         case may be, pursuant to any options contained in the Lease, and no 
         broker, other than Lessee's Broker is involved, Lessee shall, subject 
         to the provisions hereinafter set forth, be entitled to receive an 
         additional allowance toward improvement work to be performed by Lessee 
         in an amount equal to two and one- half percent (2.5%)of the aggregate 
         basic rental for said additional space, expansion or renewal, as the 
         case may be, less any concessions ("Lessor's Further Construction 
         Allowance"). If a broker other than Lessee's Broker is appointed by 
         Lessee ("Lessee's Second Broker"), (a) Lessor's Further Construction 
         Allowance shall be an amount equal to the difference between five 
         percent (5%) of the aggregate basic rental for said additional space, 
         expansion or renewal, as the case may be, less any concessions and the 
         commission payable to Lessee's Second Broker, not to exceed two and 
         one-half percent (2.5%) of the aggregate basic rental for said 
         additional 



 
         space, expansion or renewal, as the case may be, less any concessions, 
         and (b) Lessee agrees to indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from any 
         and all claims of Lessee's Broker, and any future broker claiming to 
         have dealt with Lessee,other than Lessee's Second Broker, arising out 
         of or in connection with any such transaction. Notwithstanding anything 
         hereinabove to the contrary, (a) in no event shall Lessor be liable to 
         Lessee for any Lessor's Further Construction Allowance applicable to 
         any renewals or extensions beyond June 30,2018, and (b) in the event 
         Lessee is in default at a time when payment of Lessor's Further 
         Construction Allowance is due hereunder or a petition (voluntary or 
         involuntary) in bankruptcy is filed against Lessee at any time when 
         payment of Lessor's Further Construction Allowance is due hereunder, 
         said payment shall be deferred until the default is cured or the Lease 
         is assumed by the trustee in bankruptcy upon all of the terms and 
         conditions of the Lease. If the Lease is terminated as of a result of 
         the default or rejected by the bankruptcy trustee, any obligation of 
         Lessor to Lessee as to the deferred payment and all subsequent payments 
         provided for herein shall cease. 
 
   3.9   Each of Lessor and Lessee represent and warrant to the other that no 
         broker except CRESA Partners New Jersey, L.L.C. (as 
         successor-in-interest to Alexander Summer LLC ( "Lessee's Broker") 
         brought about this transaction, and each agrees to indemnify and hold 
         the other harmless from any and all claims of any other broker claiming 
         to have dealt with such party, arising out of or in connection with 
         negotiations of, or entering into of, this Agreement. In addition, 
         Lessee agrees to indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from any and all 
         claims of Lessee's Broker arising out of or in connection with the 
         agreement of Lessee's Broker to reduce its commission in connection 
         with this transaction to two percent (2%) and to two and one-half 
         percent (2.5%) for future transactions ,other than any claim as to 
         which Lessor is obligated to indemnify Lessee as provided below in this 
         Section 3.9 . Lessor agrees to pay Lessee's Broker a commission to 
         which it is entitled pursuant to a separate agreement, as modified by 
         letter agreement dated October ,2003 (receipt of a copy of both of 
         which Lessee acknowledges), and to indemnify and hold harmless Lessee 
         with respect to claims by Lessee's Broker that Lessor has failed to pay 
         said commission pursuant to the terms of, or that Lessor has otherwise 
         breached, that agreement, as modified. 
 
   3.10  Except as expressly amended herein, the Lease shall remain in full 
         force and effect as if the same had been set forth in full herein, and 
         Lessor and Lessee hereby ratify and confirm all of the terms and 
         conditions thereof. 
 
   3.11  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 
         parties hereto and their respective legal representatives, successors 
         and permitted assigns. 
 
   3.12  Each party agrees that it will not raise or assert as a defense to any 
         obligation under the Lease or this Agreement or make any claim that the 
         Lease or this Agreement is invalid or unenforceable due to any failure 
         of this document to comply with ministerial requirements including, but 
         not limited to, requirements for corporate seals, attestations, 
         witnesses, notarizations, or other similar requirements, and each party 
         hereby waives the right to assert any such defense or make any claim of 
         invalidity or unenforceability due to any of the foregoing. 
 
      IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor and Lessee have hereunto set their hands and 
seals the date and year first above written, and acknowledge one to the other 
that they possess the requisite authority to enter into this transaction and to 
sign this Agreement. 
 
LESSOR                                  LESSEE 
MACK-CALI REALTY, L.P.                  MOVADO GROUP, MC. 
 
 
 
 
By: Mack-Cali Realty Corporation, 
    its general partner 
 
 
By: /s/ Michael A. Grossman             By:  /s/ Timothy F. Michno 
    -------------------------                -------------------------- 
    Michael A. Grossman                      Name: Timothy F. Michno 
    Executive Vice President                 Title: General Counsel 



 
                                  (FLOOR PLAN) 
 
THIRD (3RD) FLOOR 
MACK-CALI CENTRE II 
650 FROM ROAD 
PARAMUS, NEW JERSEY 



 
Lessee may make the alterations required for Lessee's use of the Fourth 
Expansion Premises (hereinafter the "Work") after the Effective Date of the 
Fifth Amendment subject to the following: 
 
         a. Lessee, at its sole cost and expense, shall prepare and submit to 
            Lessor, for Lessor's and governmental approval, the following 
            descriptive information, detailed architectural and engineering 
            drawings and specifications (hereinafter the "Plans") for the Work. 
            The Plans shall be as complete and finished as required to 
            completely describe the Work and shall include, but not be limited 
            to, the following: 
 
            i.    Demolition Plans depicting all existing conditions to be 
                  removed, abandoned or cut patched. 
 
            ii.   Architectural floor plans depicting partition locations and 
                  types; door location, size, and hardware types. 
 
            iii.  Structural plans, if required, depicting new structural 
                  components and their connections to existing elements. 
 
            iv.   Electrical plans depicting any new and existing electrical 
                  wiring, devices, fixtures and equipment. 
 
            v.    Mechanical plans depicting any new plumbing, piping, heating, 
                  ventilating, air conditioning equipment, and duct work and its 
                  connections to existing elements. 
 
            vi.   Life Safety System plans depicting all new or altered alarm 
                  system fixtures, devices, detectors and wiring within the 
                  Fourth Expansion Premises and their connection to existing 
                  systems. 
 
            vii.  Coordinated reflected ceiling plan showing ceiling systems and 
                  materials and all of the above items and their proximity to 
                  one another. 
 
            viii. Finish plans showing locations and types of all interior 
                  finishes with a schedule of all proposed materials and 
                  manufacturers. 
 
            The Plans shall provide for all systems and construction components 
            complying with the requirements of all governmental authorities and 
            insurance bodies having jurisdiction over the Building. 
 
 
         b. The Plans for the Work are subject to Lessor's prior written 
            approval which shall not be unreasonably withheld, provided, 
            however, that Leasor may in any event disapprove the Plans if they 
            are incomplete, inadequate or inconsistent with the terms of the 
            Lease or with the quality and architecture of the Building. Lessor 
            agrees to approve or disapprove the Plans within three (3) business 
            days of receipt of same (the "Lessor's Approval Period`'). If Lessor 
            disapproves the Plans or any portion thereof, Lessor shall promptly 
            notify Lessee thereof and of the revisions which Lessor reasonably 
            requires in order to obtain Lessor's approval Lessee shall, at its 
            sole cost and expense, submit the Plans, in such form as may be 
            necessary, with the appropriate governmental agencies for obtaining 
            required permits and certificates, Any changes required by any 
            governmental agency affecting the Work or the Plans shall be 
            complied with by Lessee in completing said Work at Lessee's sole 
            cost and expense. Lessee shall submit completed Plans to Lessor 
            simultaneously with Lessee's submission of said plans to the local 
            building department. 
 
   2.    Lessor shall permit Lessee to solicit competitive pricing and select 
         its own general and/or individual subcontractors to perform the Work in 
         its sole cost subject to the following: 
 
         a. All general contractors shall be subject to Lessor's prior written 
            approval, which shall 
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         c. Lessee shall be permitted to use the same team of architects and 
            contractors who built Lessee's current office space on the third 
            floor of the Building. 
 
         d. If Lessee does not use the same team of architects and contractors 
            who built Lessee's current office space on the third floor of the 
            Building, then Lessee shall use the Base Building Sub-Contractors 
            and their respective trades are set forth in Paragraph 6 below. 
 
         e. Lessee notifies Lessor in writing of Lessee's selection of general 
            and subcontractors. 
 
         f. All costs associated with the biding process soliciting competitive 
            pricing will be at the sole cost and expense of the Lessee. 
 
   3.    Intentionally omitted. 
 
   4.    If Lessee elects to engage another general contractor, or individual 
         sub-contractors, Lessee shall, at its sole cost and expense, complete 
         the Work. Lessee shall complete such Work through its own contractors 
         in accordance with the following terms and conditions: 
 
         a. Lessee's workmen and mechanics shall work in harmony and not 
            interfere with the labor employed by Lessor, Lessor's mechanics or 
            contractors or by any other Lessee or their mechanic or contractors, 
            if any. If at any time Lessee and or its contractors cause 
            disharmony or interference with the operation of the Building, 
            Lessor shall give forty-eight (48) hours written notice to Lessee 
            and Lessee shall promptly resolve any dispute so that the tenor of 
            the construction process and the operation of the Building is 
            returned to that which existed prior to Lessor's notice. Such entry 
            by Lessee's contractors shall be deemed controlled by all of the 
            terms, covenants, provisions and conditions of the Lease.* 
 
         b. Prior to the commencement of the Work, Lessee shall provide Lessor 
            with evidence of Lessee's contractors and sub-contractors carrying 
            such worker's compensation, general liability, personal and property 
            insurance required by law and in amounts no less than the amounts 
            set forth in Paragraph 8 herein. Lessor shall not be liable in any 
            way for any injury, loss or damage which may occur to any portion of 
            the Work, Lessee's decorations, or installments so made, the same 
            being solely at Lessee's risk. 
 
         c. All proposed Building System work, including the preparation of the 
            plans and specifications identified herein, shall be approved by 
            Lessor's engineers (the "Engineering Review"), and the reasonable 
            cost thereof shall be Lessee's responsibility. 
 
         d. Lessor shall afford Lessee and its contractors the opportunity to 
            use the Building facilities in order to enable Lessee and its 
            contractors to perform the Work, provided however, that Lessee and 
            its contractors shall remain responsible for the scheduling and 
            transportation of materials and equipment used in the performance of 
            such work. Lessee shall give Lessor adequate prior notice with 
            regard to the scheduling and transportation of materials in and out 
            of the Building. Lessor shall furnish, at Lessor's expense, water, 
            electricity, heat and ventilation during the performance of the Work 
            during regular construction trade hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., 
            Monday through Friday, exclusive of trade holidays. Scavenger 
            service shall be provided by Lessor at Lessee's expense. 
 
         e. All plans, changes to the plans and work installed by Lessee and its 
            sub-contractors shall require inspections to be made by Lessor's 
            Base Building Sub-Contractors at Lessee's or Lessee's contractors 
            expense (the "Inspection Fees"). The Base Building Sub-Contractors 
            shall supply Lessor with certification that work so preformed has 
            been completed in accordance with the Plans which have been 
            previously approved by Lessor. If a Base Building Sub-Contractor is 
            selected and actually installs the work, the Inspection Fees 
            described in this paragraph with respect to such work shall not be 
            required. 
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         f. Lessee shall be responsible for all cleaning and removal of debris 
            necessitated by the performance of the Work. If Lessee fails to 
            provide such cleaning and removal, the same may be performed by 
            Lessor on Lessee's behalf (except if the debris is only located 
            within the Premises, Lessor shall give Lessee three (3) days notice 
            prior to performing such work) and Lessee will pay Lessor an amount 
            equal to the contractor's charge therefore. 
 
            Neither the outside appearance nor the strength of the Building or 
            of any of its structural parts shall be affected by the Work. 
 
            The proper functioning of any of the Building Systems shall not be 
            adversely affected or the usage of such systems by Lessee shall not 
            be materially increased above the projected usage of such systems 
            indicated by the current plans and specifications of the Building. 
 
         i. Lessee and its general and sub-contractors shall be bound by and 
            observe all of the conditions and covenants contained in the Lease 
            and this Exhibit B. 
 
         j. Lessor shall designate a "Project Manager" as its representative in 
            the Building who shall be responsible for coordination and 
            supervision of the Work as it pertains to the daily operation of the 
            Building. The Project Manager and his subordinates shall be granted 
            access to the Fourth Expansion Premises at all times during the 
            construction period. 
 
   5.    Any part of the Work other than Lessee's trade fixtures and equipment 
 
 
   6.    Lessor shall provide a cash contribution of up to THREE HUNDRED FIFTY 
 
         a. Copy of the Certificate of Occupancy (temporary and permanent) 
            issued by the local construction official; 
 
         b. AIA Document G704, Certificate or SUbStantial completion issued and 
            signed by Lessee's Architect; 
 
         c. Release of Lien statements from the general and all sub-contractors 
            associated with the Work and invoices evidencing the cost of said 
            work; and 
 
         d. Lessee shall provide Lessor a set of reproducible drawings of the 
            Plans and a "CAD" file (in .DWG or .DXF format) of the "As-Built" 
            Plans. 
 
   7.    The Base Building Sub-Contractors are: 
 
          Fire Sprinkler Contractor 
          "To be provided by Lessor upon request from Lessee." 
 
          Electrical Contractor 
          "To be provided by Lessor upon request from Lessee." 
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          Plumbing Contractor 
          "To be provided by Lessor upon request from Lessee." 
 
          HVAC Contractor 
          "TO be provided by Lessor upon request from Lessee." 
 
   8.    Lessee's Contractor's Insurance: 
 
         a. The Lessee shall require any and all contractors of the Lessee 
            performing work on or about the Fourth Expansion Premises to obtain 
            and or maintain specific insurance coverage for events which could 
            occur while operations are being performed and which could occur 
            after the completion of the work. The insurance coverage of the 
            contractor shall be at least equal to the coverage required by 
            Article 30 of the Lease and the contractor shall name Lessor and, if 
            requested, Mortgagee as additional insureds on all policies of 
            liability insurance. 
 
         b. The contractor shall purchase and maintain such insurance as will 
            protect itself and Lessor and Lessee from claims set forth below 
            which may arise out of or result from its operations under the 
            contract and after contract completion with Lessee, whether such 
            operations are performed by the contractor or by any subcontractor 
            or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or by 
            anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. The insurance 
            coverage shall include but not be limited to protection for: 
 
            i.    Claims under Workers or Workmens Compensation, Disability 
                  Benefits, and other Employee Benefit Acts; 
 
            ii.   Claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational 
                  sickness, disease or death of its employees; 
 
            iii.  Claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness, 
                  disease, or death of any person other than its employees; 
 
            iv.   Claims for damages insured by the usual personal injury 
                  liability coverages which are sustained by (i) any person as a 
                  result of an offense directly or indirectly related to the 
                  employment of such person by the contractor, or (ii) by any 
                  other person; 
 
            v.    Claims for damages, other than to the work itself, because of 
                  injury to or destruction of tangible property, including loss 
                  of use resulting therefrom; 
 
            vi.   Claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any 
                  person and or property damage arising out of the ownership, 
                  maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle; and 
 
            vii.  Claims which include the foregoing, but not limited thereto, 
                  which may occur while operations are being performed and 
                  claims which may occur after operations are completed. 
 
         c. Lessee shall secure evidence of Lessee's contractor's insurance 
            coverage adequate to protect Lessor and Lessee. 
 
         d. The contract between the Lessee and its contractor shall require 
            that the Lessee's contractor hold the Lessor harmless in a form and 
            manner equal to the indemnity agreement in Article 33, 
            "Indemnification" of the Lease agreement. 
 
         e. Lessee shall cause to be executed a waiver of all subrogation rights 
            rights their contractors have or may have against Lessor and any 
            Mortgagee involved in the Fourth Expansion Premises in any way, for 
            damages caused by fire or other perils so insured. 
 
                                      -END- 
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                 LOCATION OF ADDITIONAL RESERVED PARKING SPACES 
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 21.1 
 
                         Subsidiaries of the Registrant 
 
Bermuda: 
MGI International, Ltd. 
 
California: 
North American Watch Service Corporation 
 
Canada: 
Movado Group of Canada, Inc. 
 
Delaware: 
Movado International, Ltd. 
Movado LLC 
NAW Corporation 
NAWC Corum Corporation 
Movado Group Delaware Holdings Corporation 
 
England: 
Swissam UK Limited 
 
France: 
Swisswave Europe 
 
Germany: 
Movado Deutschland G.m.b.H. 
Concord Deutschland G.m.b.H. 
 
Hong Kong: 
Swissam Ltd. 
Swissam Products Ltd. 
 
Japan: 
Concord Movado Japan Co., Ltd. 
 
New Jersey: 
EWC Marketing Corp. 
Movado Retail Group, Inc 
 
Singapore: 
Swissam Pte. Ltd. 
 
Switzerland: 
Concord Watch Company, S.A. 
Movado Watch Company, S.A. 
Montres Movado Bienne, S.A. 
Ebel S.A. 
SA de l'immeuble de la Paix 101 
 
 



 
 
                                                                    EXHIBIT 23.2 
 
 
                       CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration 
Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-80789, No. 333-13927 and 333-90004) of 
Movado Group, Inc. of our report dated March 10, 2004 relating to the 
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, which appear 
in this Form 10-K. 
 
 
 
 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Florham Park, New Jersey 
April 15, 2004 
 
 
 



 
 
                                                                    Exhibit 31.1 
 
CERTIFICATION 
 
 
I, Efraim Grinberg, certify that: 
 
 
     1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Movado Group, Inc.; 
 
     2.  Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any 
         untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
         necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances 
         under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
         the period covered by this annual report; 
 
     3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial 
         information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
         material respects the financial condition, results of operations and 
         cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
         this annual report; 
 
     4.  The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for 
         establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
         defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the 
         registrant and have: 
 
           (a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such 
                disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
                supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the 
                registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
                known to us by others within those entities, particularly during 
                the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared; 
 
           (b)  (paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 
                34-47986); 
 
           (c)  evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure 
                controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our 
                conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls 
                and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
                annual report based on such evaluation; and 
 
           (d)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal 
                control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
                registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth 
                fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
                materially affected , or is reasonably likely to materially 
                affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
                reporting; and 
 
 
 
     5.  The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based 
         on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
         reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the 
         registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
         functions): 
 
 
           (a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the 
                design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
                which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's 
                ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
                information; and 
 
           (b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
                other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
                internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Date: April 15, 2004 
                                       By: /s/ Efraim Grinberg 
                                           ------------------------- 
                                           Efraim Grinberg 
                                           President and Chief Executive Officer 
 



 
 
                                                                    Exhibit 31.2 
 
CERTIFICATION 
 
I, Eugene J. Karpovich, certify that: 
 
     1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Movado Group, Inc.; 
 
     2.  Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any 
         untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
         necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances 
         under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
         the period covered by this annual report; 
 
     3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial 
         information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 
         material respects the financial condition, results of operations and 
         cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
         this annual report; 
 
     4.  The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for 
         establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
         defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the 
         registrant and have: 
 
           (a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such 
                disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
                supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the 
                registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
                known to us by others within those entities, particularly during 
                the period in which this quarterly report is being prepared; 
 
           (b)  (paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 
                34-47986); 
 
           (c)  evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure 
                controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our 
                conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls 
                and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
                annual report based on such evaluation; and 
 
           (d)  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal 
                control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
                registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth 
                fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
                materially affected , or is reasonably likely to materially 
                affect, the registrant's internal control over financial 
                reporting; and 
 
     5.  The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based 
         on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
         reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the 
         registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
         functions): 
 
           (a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the 
                design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
                which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's 
                ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
                information; and 
 
           (b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
                other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
                internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Date: April 15, 2004 
                                             By: /s/ Eugene J. Karpovich 
                                                 ------------------------------- 
                                                 Eugene J. Karpovich 
                                                 Senior Vice President and Chief 
                                                 Financial Officer 
 



 
 
                                                                    EXHIBIT 32.1 
 
 
            CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 
                            18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
                             AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
                 SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
 
 
     In connection with the Annual Report of Movado Group, Inc. (the "Company") 
on Form 10-K for the period ending January 31, 2004, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Efraim 
Grinberg, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 
 
     (i)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 
15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
     (ii)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 
 
 
Date:  April 15, 2004 
                                                   /s/ Efraim Grinberg 
                                                   ------------------------ 
                                                   Efraim Grinberg 
                                                   President and 
                                                   Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been 
provided to Movado Group, Inc. and will be retained by Movado Group, Inc. and 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
 
 



 
 
                                                                    EXHIBIT 32.2 
 
 
            CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 
                            18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
                             AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
                 SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
 
 
     In connection with the Annual Report of Movado Group, Inc. (the "Company") 
on Form 10-K for the period ending January 31, 2004, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Eugene 
J. Karpovich, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, 
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 
 
     (i)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13 (a) or 
15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
     (ii)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company. 
 
 
Date:  April 15, 2004 
                                               /s/ Eugene J. Karpovich 
                                               ----------------------------- 
                                               Eugene J. Karpovich 
                                               Senior Vice President and 
                                               Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been 
provided to Movado Group, Inc. and will be retained by Movado Group, Inc. and 
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
 
 


